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Minutes:
Rep. Porter: We will open the hearing on HCR 3026.

Rep. Headland: | Represent district 29. This resolution is not about draining wetlands.
This resolution is put forward to give the ability to farmers to farm their land. What the
resolution is asking for is for renegotiation of wildlife easements. The U.S. Fish and Game
Department came to the property owners 40 years ago and offered a small amount of
money to set aside a small piece of property to encourage wildlife habitat. At that time
period the farmers were broke, they saw this as an ability to get them through the winter.

Fair market value in today's prices wasn't paid for these easements. Today we are in a
wet cycle and some of these wetlands have grown in sizes. The U.S. Fish and Game has
taken the stand that not only do they have regulatory authority over that small parcel but all
of that wetland and that inhibits the farmer’s ability to farm.

| ask you to amend this resolution and add language that would give the property owner the
opportunity to buy his way out of this. These perpetual easements are prohibited in North
Dakota. | don't understand where why they don’t have to abide by the North Dakota Law.

Rep. Porter: How can we go back and say these contracts are void or ask someone to void
them and bring the payment up to today’s value and then who should get that money?

Rep. Headland: We offer to the committee the ability and hope that they would add an
amendment adding language that would aliow a buyout. The problem lies in that it is
perpetual.

Rep. Damschen: We have had numerous reports that the information provided at the time
the easements were prepared was misleading if not fraudulent. Did that happen in your
area?

Rep. Headland: | believe that to be the case. North Dakota is the only state that has any
substantial acres in this program. There is more than 1.2 million acres of North Dakota that
has been enrolled in this program.
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Rep. Hanson: Are these easements any different than the ones that are being issued for
the power lines pipelines or natural gas lines?

Rep. Headland: | can't answer that.

Rep. Anderson: Do you the name of the act that started the wildlife easement? Was it
established in 19357

Rep. Headland: | do not have that information with me. 1 think the program started in 1958
but | do not know. The Legislative Council could get that information.

Rep. Kasper. Have you tried to renegotiate the easements with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife?
If so what happened?

Rep. Headland: | have spoken with them at length they have no interest in giving up any
authority over any property that they deem to be theirs.

Rep. Damschen: Once the perpetual easement is signed the new owner of that easement
has no the bargaining chips. The person who owns the land whether he inherits the
easement through the purchase of the land has no bargaining tool left on that area because
that easement is forever.

Rep. Headland: | could not have stated that better myself.

Dennis Miller: | rise in support of this HCR 3026. | farm in Northeast North Dakota. | am
the past President of the Landowners Association of North Dakota. During that time we
dealt with problems with these easements. Being the president | was asked two different
-times to teach a class on this topic for continuing education credits for real estate agents
and so forth. A lot of the questions asked today are answered in the law review by the Paul
Gallagher in respond to Rep. Anderson’s question the history of these easements began in
1918 with the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. | support this resolution for many reasons, one of
which is very to the state right now and Devils Lake is about ready to go over and
threatening the lives of 2/3 of the population of North Dakota should it go uncontrolled.

| wilt give a little history of why | feel these easements need to be negotiated. There has
been a history of court in this state and the land owners that have charged with violation of
these easements have all gone bankrupt. One ended up in the North Dakota penitentiary
and had a heart attack and died shortly after getting home.

In 1977 the legislation enacted what was intended to stop further Federal purchases of
wetland easements to the state. We need to have somebody in North Dakota stand up and
fight this uncertainty of what these easements cover. (see attachment 1)

Rep. DeKrey: | think you should go on and say the Johansen brothers were charged with
felonies and were taken to court. By the time it was all over they lost their farm spending
their money to defend themselves.

Dennis Miller: That's included in this testimony.
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Rep. Kasper: What is any action that the state of North Dakota could take to get this into
court?

Dennis Miller: As far as | know the court findings have been quite clear. In 1977 the court
said the U.S. Fish and Wildlife will assist farmers in identifying wetlands which was
reiterated investors sole in about 1980's. My point in the case is, the law is quite clear.
The U.S. Fish and Wildlife will indentify the wetlands that existed at the time that the
easement was signed provide a map of the acreage, the size and the location of the
wetlands. In most cases these maps don't exist.

Rep. Anderson: What could the state of North Dakota do to intervene?

Dennis Miller: The easements were all purchased under the original Governor's
Agreement. | don't know if the State Government could back out of that agreement. It
used to be signed on a continual basis and somebody with a legal mind could answer that
better.

Rep. Anderson: | have 4-5 letters from the Fish and Wildlife Service about problems | have
had with them. They not only bother farmers, the Rural Water District in Bottineau had to
put a waterline into a small town. We finally got permission to go across their wetland. We
were told they could move the wetland easement wherever they want to. After a while they
told us if we had a water leak we would have to file for a permit and that would take us 2
weeks to get the permit. If you have a leak you can't wait 2 weeks to take care of the
problem, so we couldn’t go through the wetland and had to go around which cost a lot more
money.

Rep. Hanson: To approve one of these easements, does it have to be approved by the
county commission and by the governor?

Dennis Miller: The process of selling property to the nonprofit organization, that process is
listed in the Natural Areas Acquisition portion of the Century Code. The original Governor's
Agreement said that “a million and half acres would be eligible for sale for easements in the
state” if you divide 53 counties by a million and a half that is approximately 30,000 acres
per country for purchase for easements in the original Governor's Agreement.

This bill deals with the easements. The easements state that the U.S. Fish and Wildlife has
control of the water fowl production of that land and the farmers shall not drain, burn, or fill
the land.

Robert Shaver: Director of the Water Appropriation Division for the office of the State
Engineer. On behalf of the State Engineer Todd Sando | offer the following comments on
HCR 3026. (see attachment 2) The State Engineer is not opposed to the wetland
protection however the State Engineer is opposed to methods used by the service to
achieve wetland protection. Based on the above, the State Engineer supports HCR 3026.

Rep. Nelson: How as a private individual solve the state’s water?
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Robert Shaver: That is an important issue. When we get letters of protest from the service
we indicate that “you don’t have a water right."They are trying to extend the jurisdiction of
that easement to a right to that water. The State Engineer rejects that right, we said “the
easement that you have is between you and the landowner, you can't tie up water in the
state of North Dakota by having this wetland easement.”

Rep. Nelson: If we start draining Devils Lake is it possible that the Fish and Wildlife Service
ts going to tell us we are hurting their wetland easement?

Robert Shaver: That is a possibility.

Rep. Porter: The language in this resolution doesn’'t match your testimony on the issue of
the State Engineer is having with these easements. Are you going to be adding some
amendments and give them to us to include pacific language or concerns of the State
Engineer?

Robert Shaver: We can do that. It is important in regards to the ground water, its
underground it is unseen we tend not to understand the management of it.

Tom Bodine: | represent the North Dakota Farm Bureau. We are in support of HCR 3026.
We recognize that the perpetual easements are not recognized in the state of North Dakota.
The U.S. Fish and Wildlife doesn't recognize the state law, so they are going out and
knocking that spirytus within the state. There are a lot of areas where the perpetual
easements have been signed for not much money.

Rep. Porter: It isn't clear to me, the concerns we are hearing from the State Engineer and
from you not only personally but as an association are addressed in this resolution. In the
first part of it we are saying there wasn't fair market value and then we want to open it back
up for renegotiation requirements of already purchased easements. This is an impossible
task. It seems like the issue is the overstepping of the easement in the delineation of the
easement. We have a lot of work to do on this to get the language right. What your group
think of amending this to be more specific to what the real problem is rather than trying to
open up a previously negotiated contract.

Tom Bodine: | agree with this current resolution, it doesn’t address that area, our
organization would support being able to have an option to go back and purchase out that
easement might be a good solution for that.

Rep. Porter: We know that is not going to happen. We can use the power of the resolution
. to try and address some of the concerns with the delineation and the water rights issues
and limited to those real concerns.

Rep. Damschen: Can the state do anything or do we need Congressional action? |If there
was Congressional action which is what we are suggesting through this resolution, we couid
also include the suggestion to make the buyback option available. Would you be agreeable
to that?
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Tom Bodine: Yes we would agree to that. It is more of any option to afford Congressional
Delegation to try to take action on this and maybe we should look at the previous bill that
was heard, if they are looking for a revenue source not at storage this could be an option on
the Federal level.

Rep. Keiser: What does your organization in terms of educating your members about the
perpetual easements?

Tom Bodine: Our orgénization is opposed to the natural easements. Each county has a
board and there have been several times in the counties where they have had speakers in
to talk about perpetual easements.

Rep. Keiser: Can you tell me how many training programs you have had in the last 2 years
that your organization put on, or distributed any materials to the members on how to
manage the easements?

Tom Bodine: | couldn't tell you. This may be a wakeup call for our organization to do that as
well.

Eric Aasmualstad: | am here in support of this resolution 1 think there needs to be some
amendments to address some of the things that are in the management of the Fish and
Wildiife Service easements. The Federal Government is allowed to do something that |
can’t. They can put a deed restriction on property forever. Let's develop amendments for
this that would address some of the management issues that surround this. The state of
North Dakota is getting jerked around. | would help draft amendments if asked.

Dan Wogsland: Executive Director of the North Dakota Grain Growers Association. We
support HCR 3026. | can tell you if you go into farm country in the state of North Dakota we
only have to say two words and that is “wetland easements,” that said expending this to
address some of the concerns and the needs that you have heard we think it would be a
good idea. Something is impossible if we don't do anything. This is a good first step. Rep.
Kasper: brought out a good point that is what are we going to do?

Julie Ellingson: | represent the North Dakota Stockmen’s Association. Our organization also
supports HCR 3026. We had a good hearing this morning. We would be agreeable to
some of the amendments that were suggested by the committee as well as our friends from
the Farm Bureau and the State Engineers Office and would be happy to help engage in that
process.

Woody Barth: | represent the North Dakota Farmers Union we also support the HCR 3026.
All wildlife taken by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service should specify the exact wetlands
included under the contract and be renegotiated every 15 years or less or upon change of
ownerships. We oppose the grant of any perpetual easements by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife
Service. We would be happy to work on any amendments that might be proposed.

Rep. Porter: Is there any opposition to HCR 30267 We will close the hearing.
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Minutes:
Rep. Porter: We will open the hearing on HCR 3026.
Rep. Damschen: The amendments we see in front of you, do you want to go through them.

Rep. Porter: As we discussed this bill | asked Rep. Damschen because his area is affected
by these as well as other areas of the state to look at the areas of concern and come up
with the language that we need. One of the first areas of concern was the aquifer area that
came to us from State Engineer that is addressed in the first whereas the other areas
talked about the drainage outside the original in tend of the easement, talks about the U.S.
Fish and Wildlife is not following the federal court decisions, and then the delineation of
those easements. That is really what | asked Rep. Damschen work on and bring to us so
that the resolution addresses what the concerns during the hearing were.

Rep. Damschen: | other thing we did was work on statements about fair market value and
fair compensation. We would all like today’s fair market value for something that we soid
40 years ago. We aiso addressed that about perpetual easements.

Rep. DeKrey: | make a motion to move the Damschen amendment 01002.

Rep. Hofstad: Second.

Rep. Porter: All those in favor voice vote taken motion Carries

Rep. DeKrey: | make a motion to move a do pass as amended to be placed on the consent
calendar.

Rep. Keiser: Second.

Rep. Porter. Is there any discussion? Voice vote taken motion carries. Carrier Rep.
Damschen.



11.3040.01002 | Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for
Titte. Representative Damschen
February 16, 2011

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION NO. 3026
Page 1, line 3, remove "for"
Page 1, line 4, remove "less than fair market value of the property”
Page 1, after line 5, insert:

"WHEREAS, the terms of many wetland easements obtained by representatives
of the United States Fish and Wildlife Service were not clearly defined; and"

Page 1, after line 8, insert:

"WHEREAS, if wetlands are to be protected to the extent desired by the United
States Fish and Wildlife Service, then large volumes of water in surficial, unconfined
aquifers in North Dakota will be prevented from being put to beneficial use; and

WHEREAS, the contemporary interpretation of United States Fish and Wildlife
Service wetland easements by the service is outside the scope of the original intent of
the easement that was to prevent surface drainage of wetlands; and

WHEREAS, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service is not following federai
court decisions that have been rendered concerning the acquisition of easements by
the United States Fish and Wildlife Service; and

WHEREAS, the state has incurred legal expenses in forcing the United States
Fish and Wildlife Service to delineate wetlands: and

WHEREAS, the creation of wetland easements has resulted in lost tax
revenues to political subdivisions as well as devaluation of surrounding real estate; and

WHEREAS, the ever-changing definition of wetlands by the United States Fish
and Wildlife Service has led to uncertainty and the inability of landowners to properly
plan for the future in their farming operations: and"

Page 1, line 10, remove "more fairly compensate the tandowner,"
Page 1, line 11, remove the comma

Renumber accordingly

Page No. 1 11.3040.01002
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11.3040.01002 Prepared by the Legisiative Council staff for ,}g/} 1
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February 16, 2011

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION NO. 3026
Page 1, line 3, remove "for"
Page 1, line 4, remove "less than fair market value of the property"

Page 1, after line 5, insert:

"WHEREAS, the terms of many wetland easements obtained by representatives
of the United States Fish and Wildlife Service were not clearly defined; and"

Page 1, after line 8, insert:

"WHEREAS, if wetlands are to be protected to the extent desired by the United
States Fish and Wildlife Service, then large voiumes of water in surficial, unconfined
aquifers in North Dakota will be prevented from being put to beneficial use; and

WHEREAS, the contemporary interpretation of United States Fish and Wildlife
Service wetland easements by the service is outside the scope of the original intent of
the easement that was to prevent surface drainage of wetlands; and

WHEREAS, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service is not following federal
court decisions that have been rendered concerning the acquisition of easements by
the United States Fish and Wildlife Service; and

WHEREAS, the state has incurred legal expenses in forcing the United States
Fish and Wildiife Service to delineate wetlands; and

WHEREAS, the creation of wetland easements has resulted in lost tax
revenues to political subdivisions as well as devaluation of surrounding real estate; and

WHEREAS, the ever-changing definition of wetlands by the United States Fish
and Wildlife Service has led to uncertainty and the inability of landowners to properly
plan for the future in their farming operations; and"

Page 1, line 10, remove "more fairly compensate the landowner,"
Page 1, line 11, remove the comma

Renumber accordingly

Page No. 1 11.3040.01002
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Com Standing Committee Report Module ID: h_stcomrep_34_002
February 21, 2011 8:12am Carrier: Damschen
Insert LC: 11.3040.01002 Title: 02000

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE
HCR 3026: Energy and Natural Resources Committee (Rep. Porter, Chairman)
recommends AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends
DO PASS and BE PLACED ON THE CONSENT CALENDAR (15 YEAS, 0 NAYS,
0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HCR 3026 was placed on the Sixth order on the
calendar.

Page 1, line 3, remove "for"
Page 1, line 4, remove "less than fair market value of the property"
Page 1, after line 5, insert:

"WHEREAS, the terms of many wetland easements obtained by representatives
of the United States Fish and Wildlife Service were not clearly defined; and”

Page 1, after line 8, insert:

"WHEREAS, if wetlands are to be protected to the extent desired by the United
States Fish and Wildlife Service, then large volumes of water in surficial, unconfined
aquifers in North Dakota will be prevented from being put to beneficial use; and

WHEREAS, the contemporary interpretation of United States Fish and Wildlife
Service wetland easements by the service is outside the scope of the original intent of
the easement that was to prevent surface drainage of wetlands; and

WHEREAS, the United States Fish and Wildlife Service is not following

federal court decisions that have been rendered concerning the acquisition of
easements by the United States Fish and Wildlife Service; and

WHEREAS, the state has incurred legal expenses in forcing the United States
Fish and Wildlife Service to delineate wetlands; and

WHEREAS, the creation of wetland easements has resulted in lost tax
revenues to political subdivisions as well as devaluation of surrounding real estate;
and

WHEREAS, the ever-changing definiticn of wetlands by the United States
Fish and Wildlife Service has led to uncertainty and the inability of landowners to
properly plan for the future in their farming operations; and”

Page 1, line 10, remove "more fairly compensate the landowner,"
Page 1, line 11, remove the comma

Renumber accordingly

(1) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 h_stcomrep_34_002



2011 SENATE NATURAL RESOURCES

HCR 3026



2011 SENATE STANDING COMMITTEE MINUTES

Senate Natural Resources Committee
Fort Lincoln Room, State Capitol

HCR 3026
March 18, 2011
Job #15683

[J Conference Committee

Committee Clerk Signature /Wéyﬂ@é%-f
v 4

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution:

A concurrent resolution urging Congress to require renegotlatlon of United States Fish and
Wildlife Service wetlands easements.

Minutes:

Cne Attachment

Chairman Lyson opened the hearing on HCR 3026.

Robert Shaver, the Director of the Water Appropriation Division of the State Water
Commission, provided written testimony on behalf of the State Engineer, Todd Sando, to
introduce the bill. See Attachment #1.

Sandy Clark, ND Farmers Union, stood in support of HCR 3026.

Woody Barth, representing the ND Farmers Union, commented that easements should be
renewed every 15 years. They stand in support of HCR 3026.

Julie Ellingson, ND Stockmen’s Association, stood in support of HCR 3026.

Opposition: None

Chairman Lyson closed the hearing on HCR 3026.

Senator Uglem made a Do Pass motion.

Senator Burckhard: Second

Roll Call Vote: 5-0-2

Carrier: Senator Uglem
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Com Standing Committee Report Module ID: s_stcomrep_49_003
March 18, 2011 11:43am Carrier: Uglem

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE
HMCR 3026, as engrossed: Natural Resources Committee (Sen. Lyson, Chairman)
recommends DO PASS (5 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 2 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING).
Engrossed HCR 3026 was placed on the Fourteenth order on the calendar.

(1) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 s_stcomrep_49_003
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. WATERS AND WATER COURSES—GAME:
WHAT DOES THE FUTURE HOLD FOR ELEVEN THOUSAND
FEDERAL WETLAND EASEMENTS IN NORTH DAKOTA?
United States v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459 (8th Cir. 1996)

I. FACTS

Kerry Johansen and Michael Johansen (Johansens) own farmland in
Steele County, North Dakota.! In the 1960s, the United States Fish and
Wildlife Service (FWS) purchased federal wetland easements from the
Johansens’ predecessors.2 These easements are located on farmland
tracts currently farmed by the Johansens.3 The FWS purchased wetland
easements on approximately 1,033 acres of the Johansens’ land.4
Specifically, the FWS purchased easements for farmland tracts 21X (a
half section), 24X (a half section), and 30X (a half section plus eighty
acres).S Prior to 1976, the FWS standard easement document delineated

l. Appeliants’ Brief at 1, United States v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459 (Bth Cir. 1996) (No.
95-3996ND). ‘
2. United States v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459, 460 (8th Cit. 1996). The casement conveyance was
made subject to the standardized terms then used by the FWS for most wetland easement acquisitions.
t 461. According to standard FWS practice at the time, the Johansens® easement documents
jncd a legal description of the entire tract of land, i.e., quarter section, half section, or section.
remainder of the casement document used by the FWS in this case stated in relevant part:

The parties of the first pant, for themselves and for their heirs, successors and
assigns, covenant and agree that they will cooperate in the maintenance of the aforesaid
lands as a waterfowl production arca by not draining or permitting the draining, through
the transfer of appurienant water rights or otherwise, of any surface water including
lakes, ponds, marshes, sloughs, swales, swamps, or potholes, now existing or reoccurring
due 1o natural causes on the above-described tract, by ditching or any other means; by
not filling in with carth or any other material or leveling, any part or portion of the
sbove-described tract on which surface water or marsh vegetation is now existing or
hercafter reoccurs due to natural causes; and by nol buming any areas covered with
marsh vegetation. It is understood and agreed that this indenture imposes no other
obligations or restrictions upon the parties of the first part and that neither they nor their
successors, assigns, lessces, or any other person or party claiming under them shall in
any way be restricted from carrying on farming practices such as grazing, hay cutting,
plowing, working and cropping wetlands when the same are dry of natural causes, and
that they may utilize all of the subject lands in the customary manner except for the
draining, filling, leveling, and buming provisions mentioned above.

Appellants’ Brief at app. 6, Johansen (No. 95-3996ND) (emphasis added). Considerable comment
has been made about the “now existing or reoccurring due to natural causes” language in these
pre-1976 casements. One might ask, reoccurring from what point in time? Although the court in
Johansen did not directly address this question, a valid argument can be made that “reoccurring” can
logically be read to mean “whenever” occurring if at any point in time the land was susceptible to
becoming a wetland. Arguably, it would have to mean “whenever” occurring or otherwise “now
existing" would be superfluous. If such a reading of this easement is accepted, the Johansen count’s
revised interpretation of the scope of pre-1976 federal wetland eascments is unnecessary.

3. Johansen, 93 F.3d a1 450.
.. Id at 461,
3. Id. The Johansens' predecessors were paid $600 for each of the easements purchased on
tracts 21X and 24X, and $700 for tract 30X. /d.
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the entire tract of land in its legal description.6 However, for each of the
recorded easement conveyances, the FWS prepared an administrative
Easement Summary.? These summaries, though not a part of the
easement document itself, provided information such as tract description,
tract acreage, wetlands acreage, and cost per wetland acre.? Thus, while
the easement document itself described the easements as encumbering
the entire tract of land, the corresponding Easement Summaries actually
represented that the FWS purchased 101 acres of wetland for the three

tracts in question.? :

The spring of 1995 was the second consecutive wet spring in Steele
County.10 As a result, the Johansens were having difficulty farming their
land due to excessive surface and subsurface water.l! In January, 1993,
Kerry Johansen requested that the FWS inform him what water he could
drain so he could resume normal farming practices.12 While claiming to
be sympathetic to the Johansens' plight, the FWS nonetheless responded
that any wetlands developed during wet years still remained subject to
easement restrictions.!3 The FWS maintained that only in the event that
the Johansen's farmstead or roads became endangered could they drain
any water off the encumbered tracts.!4 Notwithstanding the FWS’

6. Id. at 462.
7.

8. i : :
9. Id. a1 461-62; see also Murmay G. Sagsveen, Waterfowl Production Areas: A State Perspec-

tive, 60 N.D. L. REv. 659, 684-85 (1984) (discussing the negotiation and transaction process between
the FWS and landowner). Sagsveen gave the following explanation of what role the Easement
Summaries played in the negotiation process: -

[After a landowner offers to sell & wetland casement], the FWS will assess the value of

the tract for migratory waterfowl and will calculare the number of wetland acres on the

tract. The FWS then prepaies an ‘eascment summary,’” which contains the legal

description of the tract . . , the wetland acreage. the total acreage of the iract, the wetland

cost per acre, and other data. - :
Id. (foomotes omitted) (emphasis added). In the Johansens® case, the easement conveyance docu-
ments described the easements as encumbering the entire tract of land, while the accompanying
Easement Summarics represented that the FWS purchased 33, 33, and 35 acres of wetland, respec-
tively, on each-of the tracts in question. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 462. In foct, the FWS publishes annual
reports in which it still maintains that it controls 33 acres on tract 21X, 33 acres on tract 24X, and 35
acres of wetlands on tract 30X. Jd. In contrast, easements ncgotiated after 1976 did contain maps
locating the particular wetlands subject to the easements terms, Id. at 463, That is, for post-1976
easement agreements, the FWS produces a map that is recorded as part of the easement document.
This map essentially puts the landowner on notice as to the location of the covered wetland acreage
not-subject to drainage. . :

10. Johanien, 93 F.3d at 462. : :

11. Id. Becanse of two unusually wet years in Steele County, the water table had risen and
wetlands that had usually dried up over the summer either had remained full or at least remained wet
much longer than usual. Brief of Appeliee at 1. Johansen (No. 95-3996ND). Some of the Johansens’
farmtand could not even support farm machinery due to excessive moisture. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 462.

12. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 462 (citing Letter from Kerry Johansen to Hoistad (Jan. 1, 1995) (Ex.

D-120p. .

13. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 462,
14. Id. The responding leger from Yhe FWS stated in relevant part:

[Ylour area has been hard hit in the fast two years . . .. This particular tract of land has
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| ..:mon the Johansens dug duches on pornons of the rhre
in the excess. water 15 -As a’ result. the United States. brought misde-

meanor, charges agamst the Johansens for unauthonzed draining of
federal wetlands; a violation of 16 U.S. C. §'668dd. 16 :

As part - .of thelr defense the Johansens sought to present evrdence
that in ‘spite of theif ditching” activities; the wetland acreage remaining
still.exceeded thé acreage described in. the Easement Summaries that had
1been prep red. by the FWS.at the time the gasements were purchased 17
In a motion “in: limine, the United States argued that such “acreage
limitation’ defenses“ had-been rejected by the Eighth Circuit.18 Relying
on Umred Srates V. Ves:er.ro,” the Uniited" ‘States District Court for the

District“of North Da.kota ruled that the Johansens' acreage defense was
improper and therefore excluded the proffered evidence.20 The

a high number of basins on: rl. This. I'm sure, combmed .with the high rain amounts ha.s
caused you some difficulty farrnmg i .'the past_year : . Theé only provisions of the
easement that allow for dramage k :‘when . [there} are safety or health concems
- involved. Another way of saying. tlusr inless your roads or. farms:ead is in danger of
- = bemg flooded, no drainage can ke ‘plage. oy
. (cmng ‘Letter. from Hoistad to Keny Johansen (Mar. |7 1995) (Ex
_»: 18, Id. The Johansens alleged that i 1995 there. were 83.8;
tracts 21X, 24X.730X, respecnvely -Johansen, 93 F, 2t 462 B ver.‘ it shouid be noted that
ough the court in Johansen secms to have adopted soie of: l.he sens’ factual claims, the -
ict court did not make any findings of fact n-ga.rdmg any of these’ clanms 1. :
- 16. “id:+ Section 668dd(e) provides, in relevam pan; that. "[n]o person ‘shall knowmgly dlsturb
' mjure. cut, bum, remove, destroy. or possess:any real. or’ personal propeny of the United States,
~ including. natural growth, in. any area of ‘the [Nauonal Wuldllfe ‘Refuge] Sysu:m. 16 U S. C 5
1 668dd(c).(1994). - - ) %
.17, Johansen, 93 F.3d at 462. The Johansens lermed tius their “ acreage defense See
Appellanls Brief at 1.3, Johansen (No. 3996ND) (explammg the background and theory behind the
“acrcage defense™). Specifically, the Johansens explained the “u:reage defenSe as follows:

The [Johansens'] acreage defense . . . concedes for purposee of the ‘criminal ‘prosecution
_. against them the reported number of wetlands acreage pes tract, as being restricted by
~ the [FWS] casement. However. it, for example, a tract’s-. ... reponed wetlands acreage
is 33 acres, and if aftér the draining activities ofafarmerd:eteyetrermnsmrﬂhau:!)
acrés of wetlands, then the *acreage defense’ involves proving that more than 33 acres
of :wetlands remained undrained.as a matter of fact, asd then arguing 1o the jury that the
E 'UmtedSmeslmexacﬂywha:ugotintheeasemnt.andthnhaxlenstnecresof. '
wetlands, undrained and undisturbed by any draining activities of deféndants, - - ’
Id at 16 (emphasis original). According to the Johansens, the "reponed number of wetlands per
trace™ consisted of the number of acres which the FWS reported as being- subjeet 10. federal wetland
easement restrictions ia the North Dakota litigation. id. at 17-20{(citing North Dakota v “United States,
460 U.S. 300, 311 (1983)); see also.infra note 74 (explaining the position taken: by the FWS with regard
to the number.of wetland acres as being applied to gubematorial consent limits). The FWS® “rcported
number” of acres subjéct to easement restrictions came directly from the number of wetland acres as”
reported in the Easement Summaries. See infra note 74,
18. United States v. Johansen. No. C3-95-62, slip op. at 1-2 (DN D. Nov 14 I995) (order
denying defendarits’ “acreage defense™ and related theories).

19. ..828 F.24 1234, 1241:427(8th Cir. 1987) (holding that a defendanl charged with damagmg
perty subjeet to a federal ‘weiland easement could not defend on the basis that the federal
emmen: had rot ensured eomphance with gubematorial « eonsent hmnauons by :denufymg all
ands covered by the Tederal easements) '
~."20. Johd#sen, No. C3-95-62, ship op.‘ai 1-2.

d 67.1 acres of wetland on
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Johansens subsequently entered conditional pleas of guilty, pending the
appeal of the district court’s evidentiary ruling.2!

On appeal, the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals disagreed with the
district court’s interpretatior of Vesterso regarding the scope of federal
wetland easements.22 Reviswing the-district court’s pretrial order de
novo, the court reversed,23 holding that federal wetland easements are
limited to the acreage as ‘pecified in the Easement Summaries, and
remanded the case for actior: consistent with the opinion.24

This Comment will review the historical development of the federal
waterfowl production area program, including the cooperative efforts of
North Dakota with the federal government in this program and the
eventual dissipation ‘of that relationship. This Comment will then exam-
ine case law from the Unit:d States Supreme Court and Eighth Circuit
Court of Appeals that previously interpreted the scope of federal wetland
easements and established the government's burden of proof in wetland
easement violation cases. Following the discussion of prior case law, this
Comment . will review the rationale and holding in United States v.
Johansen2S FEinally, this Comment will discuss the potential impact of
Johansen on this particuar federal wetiand conservation program,
specifically focusing on the United States’ ability to enforce over 11,000
federal wetland easements in North Dakota.

II. LEGAL HISTORY - ‘

A. Hls;romcmf DEVEL )PMENT OF THE WATERFOWL Pnooucnon AREA
PROGRAM '

The nation’s cobligaticns to migratory birds first originated nearly

eighty years ago when Congress enacted the Migratory Bird T t
(gx eaty Act of 1918) in 1918.26 The Treaty Ac protected
21 Jo " ; ' '

22, Id. at 468. The court in Johc nyen noted that “the district coust’s decision was predicated on a
fundamental (albeit understandable) nisinterpretation of this circuit’s case law with respect to the
scope of federal wetlands eisements.’ Id. . s '

23. . o o

24. Id. at 466, 468. Specifically, the coun held:

[The United States’ wetland :asements acquired title on the acreage specified in the
Easement Summaries. . . . [T] ¢ govemment must . . . prove that the defendant drained
the Summary Acreage covere: by the federal wetland casement. The converse is also
true: a defendant must be per itted 1o introduce evidence proving that they did not drain
the Summary Acrcage. . S .

Id. at 468, ‘

25. 93 F.3d 459 (8th Cir. 1996). _ _ '

26. Migratory Bird Treaty Act. Pub. L. No. 65-186, ch. 128, 40 Siat. 755 (1918) (codified as
amended at 16 U.S.C. §§ 703-712 (1' 94)). Priér to the enactment of the Treaty Act of 1918, vinually
no protection existed for migratory bi ds in the United States. GuUY A. BALDASSARRE & ERIC G. BOLEN,
W ATERFOWL ECOLOGY AND MANAGE 4ENT 10 (1994). For example, there were no restrictions on bag
limits. hunting hours, gun size, or the number of shells a gun could hold, and spring hunting_ the use of
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migratory birds primarily by regulating the hunting, capture, possession,
a le of migratory birds.2? It soon became evident, however, that the
P tions offered by the Treaty Act of 1918 would be only partially
successful if crucial habitats were not also targeted to be preserved and
managed for migratory birds.28 Thus, in 1929, Congress enacted the

live decoys, and the sale of harvested ducks were all legal. /d. As a result; market hunting flourished
in this country around the:turm of the century, and was having a drastic impact on the migratory bird
population. /d. Beginning around 1900, various measures were proposed in Congress intending to
curb the effects of such widespread market hunting. Jd. at 520-22. The early measures largely
centered around various hunting regulmons for waterfowl. - Id. ‘These carly efforts usually failed,
however, because of the prevailing view that hunting regulations remained within the jurisdictional
power of the states. /d. at 520-21; see, e.g.. United States v. Shauver, 214 Fed. 154, 159 (ED. Ark,
1914) (holding that migratory birds were owned by the states in their sovereign capacity and that this
control was one that Congress had no power to displace). The fedecalism obstacles faced in the
courts, and hostility. in Congress, led 10 a shift in strategy by the leaders of the migratory bird
preservation cffoits.  Se¢ BALDASSARRE, supra, at 521;- The federalism and jurisdictional disputes
began to fade'when"a resolution was successfully proposed authorizing the President of the United
States (o initiate intcmanonal conventions for the protection of migratory birds. /d. These conventions
established a ‘means for preparing treaties that, if ratified, would likely remove the fedemlism issue
from further constitutional challenges. Id. In 1916, officials in Canada and the United Staies finally
produced the Mlgmloxy Bmd Treaty and President Woodrow Wilson signed the Migratory Bird Treaty
on August 18, 1916. Jd: This treaty opcncd “the door for the Treaty Act of 1918; which regulated the
hunting, capture, possusnon. and sale of migratory birds. /d. at 522. The states, however, did not give
up without a fight, as the State of Missouri soon led the challcnge to federal ‘intervention in the
regulation of;migratory birds in the seminal case M:ssoun v. Holland, 252 U.S. 416 (1920). - In that
case, Missouri;sought to enjoin a_ Umlcd States gamc warden from enforcing federal regulations
en ursuant to:the Treaty Act of l918 on the grggnds that the statute unconstitutionally inteifered
ts reserved to the states under the Tenth Amendrient. /d. st 430. The State bolstered its
t by ‘pointing to an earlier federal statute that regulated the taking of migratory birds; which

. had not beenpassed pursuant to an.international treaty, and had been held unconstitutional in lower
courts on the:grounds that the: ‘birds were owned by the states in their sovereign capacity and were
therefore immune from federal; regulauon under the Tenth Amendment 1d: at 432; see also Geer v.
Connecticut, 161 U.S. 519 (1896); United States'v. Shauver, 214'F. 154 (E.D. Ark. 1914); ‘However,
Justice Holmes.countered; that if the treaty was valid, then there could be no challenge to the validity
of the statute under.Article 1, Section 8, as a “necessary ‘and proper means to execule the powers of
the Government.”: Holland, 252 U. S. at 432. Jumce Holmes concluded that the treaty was:valid
primarily because migratory blrds did not respect national boundans and were therefore appropriate
subjects for mgulauon by agreement with other countries. ' /d. at 434-35. Finally, Justice Holmes
found that even:if the states were capable of effectively regulating migratory birds, nothing in the
Constitution proh:hued ‘the federal government from acting by means of 8 treaty to deal with a
“national interest-of very nearly the first magnitude . . . [that] can be prolectcd only by nnional action
in concert with that of another power.” /d. at 435.

27. Migratory Bird Treaty Act, sec. 2, 40 Stat. 755 (1918) (codlﬁed as amended al 16 U.S C. 3%
703, 712 (1994)).

28. BALDASSARRE, supra note 26, at 524. The alarming rate of destruction of wednnd resources in
the United States at the tumn of the century was fueled by the attitude that wctlands were wnu- areas
in need of being made useful, As Bn!dassam ‘and Bolen explmned ‘

[The trend-of wetland destruction] bcgan with the eolomnnon of North America ‘and the
quest for productive land, and steadily increased as lechnology mpmved and human
populations: expanded. Wetlands, it scemed, were ‘uscless’ obstacles in the march of
civilization toward its vision of ‘progress’ in fulfillment of the nation’s Manifest Destiny.
Id. 8t 13-14 (citations omitted). Legisiation toward that end- begnn with the Swamp Land Acts of 1849,
1850, and 1860, which gave federally owned wetlands back-to the states for “reclamation.” 1Id. at 456
B, id-1950s, these programs had transferred nearly half of the nation's original wetlands from
fi 0 state control, most of which ultimately fell into private ownership. Id. (citations omitted).
ult of this attitude toward wetlands was discussed in a 1976 United States Senate Report, which
stated: “There were originally approximately 127 million acres of wetlands in the area which forms
the 48 contiguous States. By 1955, this total acreage had been reduced 1o approximately 74 million




Migratory Bird Conservation Act (Conservation Act),29 which authorized
the Secretary of the Interior to acquire land for use as “inviolate sanctu-
aries for migratory birds.”30 Notably, the Conservation Act accommo-
dated the federal-state relationship by conditioning state land acquisition
on state consent.3! North Dakota consented 1o participation in the
program in 1931.32 3 o |

In 1934, Congress passed the Migratory Bird Hunting Stamp ‘Act
(Stamp Act)3? to provide the Secretary of Interior with a funding mecha-
nism for the acquisition of migratory bird sanctuaries as required by the
Conservation Act.34 The Stamp Act funded the program via the sale of
bird hunting stamps, commonly known as duck stamps.3S The duck
stamp proceeds formed a “migratory bird conservation fund” to be

used to purchase and maintain bird sanctuaries.36

The federal migratory bird preservation effort subsequently shifted
its strategy away from creating large waterfowl sanctuaries toward the
preservation of small wetlands on private property.37 As such, the Stamp
Act was amended in 1958 to give the Secretary of the Interior
authorization to acquire small marshes, potholes, and sloughs, which

‘acres of which only.22.5 million acres were significant. value in the conservation of migratory
walerfowl.” S. REP. N0, 94-594, at 1 (1976), reprinted in 1976 US.C.C.AN. 271,272

29. Migratory Bird Conservation Act, Pub. L. No. 70-770, ch. 257, 45 Stat. 1222 (1929) (codified
as amended at:16:U.S.C. $3 715-715s (1994)). The enactment of the Conservation Act has been
characterized as the beginning of a “national thrust for the steady acquisition of waterfowl habitat.”
BALDASSARRE, supra note 26, at 525.

30. Migratory Bird Conservation Act, Pub. L. No. 70-770, ch. 257, sec. 3, 45 Stat. 1223 (1929)
{codificd as amended.at 16 U.S.C. § 715d(2) (1994)). Although § 5 was amended by § 5(a) of the Fish
and Wildlife Improvements Act of 1978, Pub. L. 95-616, 92 Stat. 3113, the “sense of the language.
however, was not altered.” North Dakota v. United States, 460 U.S. 300, 302 {1983) (referring to 16
U.S.C. § 715d (Supp. V 1976)). ' . '

31. Migratory. Bird Conservation Act, Pub. L. No. 70-770, ch. 237, sec. 7, 45 Stat. at 1223 (1929)
(codified as amended at 16 U.S.C. § T15( (1994)). See Sagsveen, supra notc 9 at 660 (characterizing
the inclusion of the:state’s consent as 3 condition to land acquisition as an *ynusual accommodation™).

32. Act of Mar. 2, 1931, ch. 207, § 1. 1931 N.D. Laws 360 (codified as amended at N.D. CENT.
Cooe § 20.1-02-18 (1991)). .- - _ . }

33. Migratory Bird Hunting Stamp Act, Pub. L. No. 73-124, ch. 71, 48 Stat. 451 (1934) (codified
as amended at 16 U.S.C. §§ 718-718) (1994). ,

34. Mignatory Bird Hunting Stamp Act, Pub. L. No. 73-124, ch. 71, sec. 4, 48 Stat. 452 (1934)
{codificd as amcnded at 16 U.S.C. § 718d(b) (1994)).

35. North Dakota v, United States, 460 U.S. 300, 302 (1983).

36. Id. -

37, BALDASSARRE, supra.noic 26, at 535. The straiegy shifted because not all wetlands were of a
size that required protection as a federal refuge. Id. Since many smali wetlands, even isolated
potholes or sloughs, were valuable as waterfow] habitat, an efficient means for acquiring these arcas
was needed. Id. in United States v. Albrecht, 496 F.2d 906 (8th Cir. 1974), the court described the
characteristics of a prairic pothole region and its value as habitat for watesfowk: :

Each square mile of such land is dotted by approximately 70 to 80 potholes of three to
four feet deep. . . .. [Tlhe potholes usually retain water through July or August, and
therefore, provide an excellent ‘erivironment for the production of -aquatic invertebrates
and aquatic_plants, the basic foods for breeding adult ducks and their offspring. Essential
{0 the mainténance of the land as a waterfowl production area is the availability of

shallow water in these numerous potholes during the usually drier summer moaths.
Id. at 908 (citations omitted). ‘ '

S ————




were to be designated as Waterfowl Production Areis.38 Since waterfow! ]
production areas did not have to be maintained a.: sanctuaries,3? there
as no need for them to 'be purchased outright.4¢ ‘Therefore, the United
‘tes' was vested with the authority to acquire easements that prohibited
andowners from -draining their wetlands or otherwise destroying the
wetlands suitability as migratory breeding grounds.-! ‘
Shortly after the 1958 amendment, it became svident that revenues
from the Conservation Fund could not finance .such a massive land
acquisition program.42 Thus, Congress created an additional source of
funding via the Wetlands Act of 1961 (Wetlanus Loan ‘Act), .which
authorized an interest-free loan to go into the Migratory Bird Conserva-—
tion Fund.43 Significantly, in step with the Conservation Act of 1929, the
Wetlands Loan Act accommodated the federal-state relationship by
conditioning state land acquisition on the consent of the govemor or

appropriate State agency.44

B. NORTH DAKOTA'S PARTICIPATION IN THE FEDERAL WETLANDS
CONSERVATION PROGRAM. ™~ - L

North Dakota initially cooperated with federal efforts to preserve
vital migratory bird habitats.45 In fact, by 1958, :he United States had
38. Sagsveen, supra nole 9, at 660. Specifically, the amendment gave the Secretary of the

‘::ior authorization fo purchase a new type of property; “small wetlaud and pothole arcas, interests

in, and rights-of-way to provide access thereto,” and these smal) wetlands or pothole areas were

be designated as ‘Waterfowl Production Areas.™ § 2-3, T2 Stat. 487 (1958) (codificd as amended

at 16 U.S.C. § 718d(c) (1994)). The Johansens' casements were purchased parsuant to this
amendment to the Stamp Act. United States v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459, 4¢ 1 (8th Cir. 1996).

29. See North Dakota, 460 U.S. at 303 (citing to 16 US.C. § 7 \8d(c) (1982) and stating that
waterfow! production areas could be “acquired without regard to the li mitations and requirements of
the Migratory Bird Conscrvation Act”™). ' '

40. Id.

41. .

42, Sagsveen, supra note 9, at 660. In the years following World ‘¥ar 11, the funds derived from
the sale of duck stamps could not alone stem the destructive tide of immense wetland losscs,
Bﬁg‘mm supra note 26, st 533-34. Congress responded according’ y with the Wetlands Loan Act
e 1. id B ‘ : ' ' S

43. Wetlands Loan Act, Pub. L. No. 87-383, secs. 1, 3,75 Sut. 81} (1961) (codified as amended
at 16 US.C. § 715k-3, 4 (1994)). L ‘ o

44, Wetlands Loan Act, Pub, L. No. 87-383, sec. 3, 75 StaL 313 (1961) (codified as amended at
16 U.S.C. 715K-5 (1994)). In North Dakota, the United States Suj reme Court distinguished the
Wetlands Loan Act’s enabling provision from the Conservation Act: ' :

[The Loan Act provides that] no land shall be acquired with mo; eys from the migratory

bird conservation fund-unless the acquisition thercof has been ap woved by the Governor

of the State or appropriste State agency. This proviso is in addi ion to the Conservation

Act’s requirement in its § 7, that the Statc “shall have coniented by law™ to the

acquisition, of land-for inviolate bird sanctuarics. The latter : equires conseat by the

legislature; the former requires consent by the Governor or the “appropriate State

agency.” : R

North Dakota, 460 U S, at 303 n.3 (citations omitted).

4S. See North Dakota, 460 U.S. at 304 (discussing the rela ionship between the federal
A.vemmem and North Dakota regarding the federal wetland conservati program); see also Amicus
Hief of Nocth Dakota at 2, United States v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459 (8 h Cir. 1996) (No. 95-3996ND)
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acquired more than 176,000 acres of land in North Dakota for use as
waterfow] refuges.46 Soon after the passage of the Wetlands Loan Act in
1961, the FWS sought the necessary consent from then Governor
William L. Guy for further land acquisitions in the State.47 Between
-1961:to 1977, Govenors Guy and Arthur A. Link consented to the
acquisition of approximately 1.5 million acres of wetland easements.48
Although ‘the gubernatorial consents specified the maximum wetland -
acreage that could b« acquired within each county, particular tracts of
land were not furthe- specified.4® Since North Dakota wetlands were
targeted by the FWS as. a national priority,30 the FWS faced substantial
pressure to meet the ‘ambitious ‘goals that' they had described to
.Congress 51 By 1977 the FWS had purchased 11,685 wetland easements
in North Dakota,52 tctaling nearly one-half of the total wetland acreage
authorized by the gut ematorial consents.53

In the mid-1970:, the cooperation that had marked the joint effort
between the FWS aml North' Dakota began to break down.54 Although
the source of the dispute was not altogether clear,55 some landowners,56

" (déscribing the relationship be tween North- Dakota and the federal government as a pan.nerslup that
“began amicably™). :

46, NorﬂlDakam.460U 5. at 305.

47 Sagsveen. supra note 9, at 661. Pmmptly after the passage of the Loan Act, Governor Guy
was contacted by FWS offic als concerning federal acquisition of waterfowl production areas in
North Dakota. Id. Initially, Covemor Guy consented to the acqumuon of casements over 1.2 million
acres of wetlands in North D: kota for waterfowl production areas, * /d.; see also North Dakota, 460
“U.S. at 305 (discussing general Iy the State's role at the beginning of the prognm)

48, NorthDabld.46OU i m30$

.49, M. .

50. See. Sagsvecn. supm note 9, at 662 (cmng to S REP No. 94-594, at 3 (1976). repnnred in
1976 U.S.C.C.A.N, 271, 273) The FWS ranked the prairie pothole states of North Dakota, South
Dakota, and Montana {a prin e breeding region) as being its top priority among 32 geogmplucal
locations in.the United States : or waterfow] habitat acquisition efforts. /d. The concentration by the
FWS on this region stemmed from its estimate that this region “continue{d) to be drained at some
35,000 acres annually, a rate st which the [FWS'] acquisiuon ptoznm has stowed by as much as
15,000 to 20,000 acres per yea"" "/d. at 14,

.51." Sagsveen, supra note 9, at 662. The FWS had fallen shon of lhe wuland acquisition goals it
‘had set for itself between 19352 through 1976 by over 600,000 acres.’S. Rep. No. 94-594, at 2.
Moreover, in 1975, the FWS had revised its wquisiuon goals and identified an additional 1.3 mdllon
acres.of prime wetland habitat. /d.

$2. . Amicus Bricf of Norh Dakota at 3, United Smu v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459 (Sth Cir. 1996)
(No. 95-3996ND). :In Steele County, the Johansens® home county, Govemnor Guy authorized the
acqmsmon of 9,618 acres of w:tland. Id -

53. North Dakoia, 460 U . at 305.

- 54, Id at 306. -

_ 55 Id C

56. See, e.g.. Wemer v. Umlcd States Dep’t of Interior, 581 F.2d 168, 169 (8th Cir. 1978)
(finding that oral representatic ns made to farmers by FWS agents concerning the scope of wetlands
casements did not accord with the terms of the written easements); United States v, Schoenbomn, CR
No. 81-0145, slip op. at 9 (D. Vinn. Mar. 26, 1982) (finding that “[t)here was significant evidence at
trial to support defendant’s contentions that the [FWS] sgent . . . made unanthorized oral
representations which were in :onsistent with the written terms of the easement and map™). Indeed.
misrepresentation claims were raised by landowners as a way to recover damages for oral
misrepresentations made 1o th:m by FWS agents during wetland easement ncgotiations. See. e.g..

Werner. 581 F.2d at [71. These claims were generally dismissed, however, because such
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and the State of North Dakota maintained that it was caused by certain
- practices of the FWS.57  Whatever the source of the dispute, by the early
1970s the United States began prosecuting farmers for waterfow! ease-
ment violations.58 This controversy, stemming from alleged question-
able practices in the acquisition of wetlands easements and subsequent
prosecutions, caused the North Dakota Legislature to review the
federal-state waterfowl habitat preservation effort.59 As a result, North
Dakota enacted legislation in 1977 which intended to restrain further
federal purchases of wetland easements in the state.60

~ Two years later, the United States, at the request of the FWS, sued
the ‘State of North Dakota, seeking a declaratory judgment that the 1977
state legislation restricting further féederal acquisition of wetland ease-
ments was unconstitutional.61 The United States District Court for the
District of North Dakota granted summary judgment for the United

misrcpresentations were deemed to be unavthorized acts.and the United States was not bound thereby.
See, e.g., id. ' ‘ - - '

57. Brief for the State of North Dakota at 30-33, North Dakota (No. 81-773); see also Amicus
Briefl of North Dakota at 3, Johansen (No. 95-3996ND). In her amicus bricf, the North Dakota
Attorney, General described. the source of the federal-state dissolving pmncrship in wetlands

preservation as follows: - .

- A number of federal actions disrupted the partnership and were inconsistent with .
Congressional intent that the state*play a prominent role in the conservation program.
Misrepresentations were made to-landowners by FWS acquisition agents. Another
irritant was the FWS's purchasé of caséments on sirategically located wetlands 1o
prevent construction of publicly-sponsored drainage projects. These actions, in effect,
pre-empted state regulatory authority. Y ’

P P PR A et n .

Amicus Brief of North' Dakota at 4, Johansen, (No. 95-3996ND) (citations omitted). Of course, one
might arguc-that the FWS could only purchase what landowners were willing to scll. One might ask
why not dircct the anger st the landowners instead of the FWS. o

" 58. E.g. WernéF:581 P.24'168; United States v. Albrecht, 496 F.2d 906 (8th Cir. 1974).

59. ‘See Sen. Con. Res. 4048, 44tk Leg. (N.D. 1975), reprinted in 1975 N.D. Laws 1729 (dirccting
the Legislative Council to study the impact of refuge and waterfow] production arca acquisitions by
the FWS on North Dakota agricilture). Interestingly, as the court in Jobansen recognized twenty-one
years later, infra note 115-120, the North Dakota Legislature viewed the FWS' conveyance document
for pre-1976: casemients a3 posing problems for North Dakota farmers. /d. Specifically, the legis-
larure’s-resolution stated: “[W]hereas, the (FWS has acquired] . .. easements over legal subdivisions .
- .-rather than the' actual recognized boundaries of the wetlands which prevents, in some cases, the
land outside"the' wetland but within the leased arca, from being used to its maximum capacity for
agricultural production.” fd. ~ ' o A :

" '60. “See.e.g.. Act of Apr. 21, 1977, ch. 204, § 1, 1977 N.D. Laws 461, 461-62 (withdrawing
unconditional consent to federal refuge acquisitions under the Conservation Act by reserving complete
authority and jurisdiction over all such areas) (codified as amended at N.D. CenT. CopE §
20.1-02-18.3 (1978)): Act of Apr. 21,1977, ch. 204, § 3, 1977 N.D, Laws 461, 462-63 {allowing
landowners to “drain any ‘afier-cxpanded wetland or water area in excess of the legal description’in
the lease, easement, or servitude” and providing that state consent to federal scquisitions for migratory
bird refuges would be nullified if the Deparument of the Interior did not. “agree to and comply with”
the state-imposed limitations placed upon federal easement acquisitions) (codified as amended at N.D.
CenT, Copk § 20.1-02-18.2(2) (1978)): Act of Mar. 31, 1977, ch. 426, § 1, 1977 N.D. Laws 923
(limiting all casements in North Dakota to 99 years, and requiring that the area of land encumbered by
the easement shall be specifically described) (codified as amended at N.D. CENT. Coot § 47-05-02.1
(1978)). - B ‘

61. United States v. North Dakota, Civ. No. A1-79-62 (D.N.D. June 4, 1980).

——
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~ States,52 and the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed.63 The State

of North Dakota appealed and certiorari was granted by the United
States Supreme Court.54

C. THE IMpACT OF NorRTH DaKOTA V. UNITED STATES

In North Dakota v. United States83 there were two main issues
before the Supreme Court: (1) whether the requisite gubernatorial
consent, once given, could be revoked by the State of North Dakota, 66

“and (2) whether North Dakota could impose statutory conditions on the

federal government’'s power to purchase further wetland easements in
the State.67 Before reaching those issues, however, the Court addressed
two preliminary arguments advanced by North Dakota.68 The Supreme
Court’s holding with respect to the second of these preliminary argu-
rments is what most affects the decision in Johansen.6?

62. Id

63. United States v. North Dakota, 650 F.24 911, 918 (8th Cir. 1981). Initially, the gubematorial
consent issue was confused at the jower court level, where the United States successfully argued that
the gubematorial consent provision did not govermn federal acquisition of waterfow! production areas.
id. at 913. The court of appeals affimmed, holding that. ncither legislative nor_gubematorial conscnt
was required prior 10 acquisition of waterfowl production arcas. Id. -at 916. However, by the time the
case reached the Supreme Court, the partics agreed that gubematorial consent was required for the
United States to acquire state wetlands for waterfowl production areas. North Dakota v. United
States, 460 U.S. 300, 30n.13(1983).

64. ‘North Dakota v. United States, 455 U.S. 987 (1982). B

65. 460 U.S. 300 (1983). In Johansen, the United States argued that prior Eighth Circuit
decisions interpreted wetland  easements to cover all wetlands on an encumbered parcel. United
States v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459, 462 (8th Cir. 1996); see also Brief of Appellee at 17-19, United States
v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459, 462 (8th Cir. 1996) (No. 95-3996ND) (arguing that Judge Benson’s ruling in
United States v. Welte, 635 F. Supp. 388 (D.N.D. 1982), which was affirmed by the Eighth Circuit, 696
F.2d 999 (8th Cir. 1982), stood for the proposition “that all of the wetlands which are found on the tract
are covered by the easement restrictions,” and also that the Eighth Circuit's decision in United States
v. Vesterso, 828 F.2d 1234 (8th Cir."1987), “again specifically affirmed its prior holdings that all
wetlands found within the eascment boundaries are protected™ (cmphasis in original)). The court in
Johansen reasoned, however, that although prior circuit decisions supported this argument, the United
States had failed to acknowledge the intervening Supreme Court decision in North Dakota. Id. at
462-63. The court stated that the Supreme Court's decision “adopted a more restricied interpretation”
of federal wetlands casements. /d. at 463. This apparent controversy over the interpretation of the
Supreme Court decision accordingly warrants a closer cxamination of the North Dakota ruling
concemning the scope of federal wetlands casements. ‘ _

" 66. North Dakota, 460 U.S. at 311, Recall that the Wetlands Loan Act of 1961 provided that
“[n)c land shall be acquired with moneys from the migratory bird conservation fund unless the
acquisition thercof has been approved by the Governor of the State or appropriate State agency.” 16
U.S.C. § 715k-5(1994). N C o o :

. 67, Id.at 311. At.issue here was North Dakota's authority to impose retroactive conditions on
acquisitions authorized by consents -already given. Id. at 316-17. Since the United States had only
acquired’ approximately half of the total wetland acreage previously authorized by North Dakota
govemors, id. at 305, North Dakota was seeking 10 impose restrictions on the United States’ power to
acquire furthef wetlands easements. on the Feriiaining 750,000 available acres. Id. at 316-17; see also
supra note 60 and accompanying text (explaining the various statules passed by the North Dakota
Legislature in 1977 which intended to restrain further federal acquisition of wetland casements in the
State). :

68. North Dakota, 460U.5. at 31l n. 14.
69. Id. The first preliminary argumen advanced by North Dakota was that the gubernatorial
consents authorized between 1961 and 1977 were invalid because they did not specify the particular
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. In the second of the preliminary arguments, North Dakota contend-
.ed that the gubernatorial consents were exhausted because the United
States had already: acquired wetland easements oer more acreage than
‘had been authorized by the consents.7¢ Speci.ically, North Dakota
argued that the FWS was barred from acquiring further wetland ease-
ments in the State because the State's prior conseats authorized acquisi-
tions over only 1,517,437 acres of land, and the FWS had already
acquired wetland easements over 4,788,300 acres.”l North Dakota’s
contention that the FWS had already acquired easements covering
4,788,300 acres stemmed from the FWS practice of including legal
descriptions of entire tracts of land in the actual easement conveyance

instrument.72 ;
The Supreme Court conceded that the gubematonal consent limits

would have been exhausted if in fact the entire «racts of land counted
against the acreage permitted by the consents.”?? The Court concluded,
however, that the easement restrictions applied only to wetland areas and
not to the entire tract of land.74 Therefore, the Ccurt held that guberna-
‘torial consent acreage limitations applied only to the wetlands within a
arcel, and not to the entire parcel as legally deicribed in conveyance
strument.?S The Supreme Court’s holding here -s primarily what gave

parcels of land that were 10 be acquired. /d. The Cournt reasoned t1at neither the language of the
cnabling statute nor its legislative history suggested that parcel-by-pai el consent was necessary, Id.
Moreover, since the enabling statute required consent only with resp ect to the “nature of the lands
fand-the acreage] involved,” the county-by—county conscnts as given st nsﬁcd this standard ld
70. /d. at3L1n. 14 )
Al : '
72.71d.; see al:a supm note 9 (discussing lhe pre-l976 FWS oractice of including the legal
. dcscnpuon of the entire tract of land in the eascment conveyance instr .ment).
13. North Dakota, 460 U.S. at 311 n.14. o
74. Id. Specifically, the Court stated: “The fact that the case nent agreements include legal
descriptions. of- much larger parcels does not change the acreage of the wetlands over which easements
have been acquired.™ Ild. (emphasis added). “ Notably, the Court relied upon the interrogatory
answers of then FWS Director, Lyrn A: Greenwalt, in reaching this conclusion. /d. Specifically,
when Greenwalt was asked what the total acreage (wetland and upla id) of permanent easements as
Waterfowl Production Areas was in North Dakota, he responded: “[:Jhe total acreage described in
the permanent casements for Waterfowl. Production Arcas acquired in North Dakota by the Fish and
Wildlife Service, USDI, is 4,788,300 acres; however, the easement restrictions on draining, burning,
Jilling, and leveling only apply 10 764,522 wetland acres.” Appellant:’ Brief at 20, United States v.
Johansen, 93 F.3d 459 (8th Cir. 1996) (No. 95-3996ND} (citing to Pla ntiff's Answers to Defendant's
First Set of Interrogatories and Response to Defendant’s First Reques: for Production of Documents,
United States v. North Dakota, Civ. No. A1-79-62 (doc. #9, filed Jul r 24, 1979)) (emphasis added).
The FWS Director also stated that the 764,522 acreage figure was con puted from the “summation of
the wetland acres reported on the Easement Summary Sheets for i1l waterfowl producuon arcas
acquired in North Dakota.” “Johansen, 93 F.3d at 64 n.7.
75.. North Dakora, 460 U.S. at 311 n.14. However, a different, ai d arguably valid, interpretation

as given to this ruling by the National Auduban Society in its amicus brief filed in suppon of the
nited States’ petition for rehearing en banc. The Audubon Society arjued:

“{The Supreme Court rejected the argument] . . . that progress toward the 1.5 million cap
should be measured by reference to the legal dcscription of the entire parcels on which
the wetlands are located. Thar is all the Court decided in its brie [ discussion of the issue.
The Court did not arrive ar any conclusion about the actuil acreage of wetlands
easemenss the United States had acauired relative to the TS millinn ran much lacc
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the court in Johansen the basis for its narrow interpretation of the
Johansen easements.?6 ' '

After. rejecting the preliminary arguments advanced by North
Dakota,?7 the Court adcressed the validity of North Dakota’'s 1977
legislation that intended 1o restrain further federal acquisitions of wet-
land easements in the State.”® Of relevancé to this Comment was the
North Dakota statute whi:h purported to limit boundaries of wetlands
previously acquired by tlie United States.”? Specifically, this statute
permitted landowners to “drain any after-expanded wetland or water
area in excess of the legal description in the easement.” 80 North Dakota
sought to retroactively apaly the statute to wetland easements already

endorsed ' the [Johansens'}-pos ition in this litigation that the United States is bound to
specific acreages in the [FW.'] 'Easement Summary’ and other documents derived
from those calculations.

Memorandum of Amicus Curia:. Nat'l Audubon Soc'y in Support of Petition by the U.S. for
Rehearing at 8-9, Johansen, (No. 95- 1996ND) (emphasis added). A narrow reading of the Supreme
Court’s ruling in North Dakota ceniinly supports ‘the Audubon Society’s position. The court in
Johansen at least impliedly acknowle: 'ged some ambiguity with respect to this particular ruling. See
infra note 119 and sccompanying text. o . .

76. See Johansen, 93 F.3d at 465 n.8 (stating that the Supreme Court’s “treatment of this
argument implicitly suggests . . . that t i *acreage’ is a set figure and not subject to fluctuation.™).

77. See supra notes 67-74.-and : ccompanying text (discussing North Dakota’s two preliminary
arguments which the Court rejected in footnote 14 of its decision). The Court also rejected the
argument that the gubernatorial con: ents, even if valid:and not exhausted, had been effectively
revoked by the State. - North Dakota, 1 60 U.S. a 312, North Dakota based jts argument on the notion
that § 715k-5 required not only the initial consent of the State's governor, but also that this consent
must be continual. /d. That is, the g emor must continue to consent until the moment the land is
acquired. /d.- Therefore, becanse the i"WS had only acquired wetland casements over approximately
half the acreage consented to by its go ‘emnors, North Dakota argued that it could terminate the United
States” power to acquire the remaining acreage Jd. Finding the language of the Wetlands Loan Act
to be “uncomplicated,” the Count concluded that nothing in the statute authorized the withdrawal of
consent previously given. Jd. at 312-13, 'Nor did the Court find anything in the legislative history
indicating Congress’ desire (6 permit g1 vemors to revoke their consent once given. Id, at 313. Noting
the role of the State once consent is' given, the Court stated: '

We are unwilling o assume that Congress, while expressing its firm belief in the need to -
preserve additional wetlands, so :asvally would have undercut the United States’ ability
to plan for their preservation. Cl:arly, Congress intended the States to play an important
role in the planning process. ‘But once plans. have been made and the Governor's
approval has been freely given, .2 role of the State is at an end. _ _
Id at 315. Thercfore, the Court held that gubernatorial consent could not be revoked once given. /d,
at 321. " . , S a
78. North Dakota, 460.U.S. a1 316, y L : o

79. Id. at 317:19 (discussing the vi lidity of N.D. CenT. CooE § 20.1-02-18.2(2) which permitied
landowners to “drain any aficr-expanded wetland or water area in excess of the legal description in
the easement . . ."). The other two Nor-h Dakota statutes challenged were sections 20.1-02-18.1 and
47-05-02.1. Id. at 316-320. The former imposed conditions on previously approved acquisitions,
while the latter limited casements conve:ed in the state to 99 years. /d. Here again, the premise that
previously given consent is irrevocabl:: invalidated North Dakota's argument concerning the two
statutes. /d. at 317-321. The Court reasned that the State could not impose conditions on previously
approved acquisitions since it could not evoke its consent even if the conditions were not met. Jd. at
317. The Coun held that North Dako-a's legislation could not restrict the United States’ further
acquisition of wetlands easements pursua-it to the previously given gubernatorial consents. Id, at 321.

80. Id. at 317 (citing N.D. CenT. CoDE § 20.1-02-18.2(2) (Supp. 1981)). The United States.did
not challenge the portions of section 20.1-02-18.2 which permilted landowners to “negotiate the
conditions of an easementyand restrict the scope of the easement to a particular legal description ™ /d.
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rchased by the federal government.8t However, the Court disagreed
with a scheme that imposed restrictions on easements- acquired under
previously given consents, and held that the statute was hostile to federal
law.82 More importantly to the Johansen case, however, is the Supreme
Court’'s ruling that the United States may incorporate into easement
agreements restrictions. on wetlands outside the bounds of the easement
itself.83 The Supreme Court’s ruling regarding after-expanded wetlands
may demonstrate that the figures in the Easement Summaries are not an
absolute limit on the amount of wetlands subject to easement restnctlons
during wet years.34 : :

D. Tug IMPACT OF UNITED STATES V. VESTERSO

In United States-v. Vesterso,83 the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals

BlL. Id at 319,

82. Id:at 318. The Court interpreted section 20.1-02-18.2 to be contrary to a standard clause that
was a part of post-1976 fcdcn.l wetland casement conveyance instruments. /d. at 317. That clause
expressly prohibited the draining of ufter-cxpanded wetlands, and thus North Dakota’s statute would
“void such: clauses eveq when agreed 10 by the landowner.™ Jd. Therefore,:to the extent that the
state statute authorized landowners to drain after-expanded wetlands contrary, to terms of the
ement’ agrcemem. it ‘was” hosule to federal law and could not be applied to casements acquired

uant 10 consents already given. /d. at 319. The Court quoted approvingly the foliowing language
m United States v. Little Lake Misere Land Co., 412 U.S. 580 1973): “To permit state abrogation of
explicit terms- of a federal land acqmsmon would deal a serious blow 1o-the congressional scheme
contemplated by the Migratory Bird Conservation Act. .. .". .North Dakora, 460 U.S. at 318.
83, North Dakota 460 U.S. at 319. The crucial hnguagc is as follows:

The United States is authonzed to incorporate into easement. agreements such rules and
regulations as the Secretary of the Interior decms necessary for the protection of
wildlife, and rthese rules ond regulations may include restrictions on land outside the legal
description of the easement. To respond to the inherently fluctuating nature of wetlands,
the Secretary has chosen to negotiate easemient restrictions on after-expanded wetlands
as.well as those described in- ihe easement ltself. As long as North Dakota landowners
“are willing to negotm: such ngmemcnts the agreemenu may not-be abrogated by state
law. .-

Id {(citations and footnotes ommed) (cmphasns ndded) !

84. In fact, the United States forcefully argued in its pemion for réhearing that the Johansen
court’s holding, that federal' wetlands casements are’ limited to the acreage as specified in the
Easement Summaries, contradicted the Supreme Court’s ruling regarding “aﬁcr—cxpanded wetlands.”
Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing En Banc at 8-9 (filed Oct. 2,°1996), United States
v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459 (8th Cir. 1996) (No. 95-3996ND). See infra notes 153-60 (ana.lyzmg the
United States™ argument that the holding in"Johansen contmdlcts the: Supteme Coun 's ruling § fn North
Dakota regarding “after-expanded wetlands™). T

85 828 F2d 1234 (8th Cir 1987). The Umled Slatcs argued in |ts rnouon in hmme lha: Ihe

e

Appellants’ Brief at 24, Jokansen (No. 95-3996ND); see supra note 17 (explaining what thc
Johansens® “acrcage defense™ means in the context of this case). The district court agreed that such a
defense was improper based on the éircuit’s prior holding in Vesrerso. United States v, Joha.nsen No,
C3-95-62, slip-op. at 1-2 (D:N.D. Nov. 14, [995) (granung Umted States motion in hmine)

ifically, the district court'stated:
The United States seeks to exclude the * ncrcagc “limitation del‘cnse set fonh m dcfcnd-

ants’ briefs. The defense is improper in this case. The language of United Siates v.
Vesterso, 828 F.2d 1234 (8th Cir. 1987). is clear as 1o what the government must prove.
As in Vesterso, a defense may not be based on gubematorial consents . . ., or on re-

sulting easement summaries or summary records. The United States motion in Iiminc S
1t therefore GRANTED
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affirmed the convictions of three water resource district board members
for damaging wetlands subject to federal easements in Towner County,
North Dakota.86 The case was defended in part on the basis that the
United States had failed to establish that the wetlands damaged by the
defendants were actually encumbered by federal wetland easements. 87
Specifically, the defendants maintained that the FWS had acquired more
wetland acres in. Towner County than had been authorized by the
gubernatorial consents.88 The defendants therefore argued that since the
United States had not established which wetlands were within the gubema-
torial limitations, it had not been established beyond a reasonable doubt
that the defendants had damaged federal property.89 At trial, the defen-
dants attempted to submit evidence that Towner County's acreage limita-
tion was 27,000 acres, and that county acreage actually encumbered with

wetland easements totaled over 150,000 acres.9¢ The Vesterso court hcld .

however, that the trial court properly denied these offers of proof.9!

The court in Vesterse based its holding on the fact that both the
Supreme Court and pﬁor Eighth Circuit decisions had established that
gubernatorial consent acreage limitations applied to established “wet-
land[s] within a parcel and not to the entire parcel subject to- the
easement.”92 The court mterpreted the pemnent language from North

Idatl - ‘ ' ‘

In dlscussmg the d:stnct court’s pmna.l order. the Jaluuuen court stated Lhm the decnslon was
“predicated on a‘fundamental (albeit understandable) lmsmlcrpmlauon of Bighth Circuit precedent

concerning the scope of federal wetlands.casements. United-States v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459, 468 (8th

Cir. 1996). The apparemt contradictory lnlerpretauons of the' E:ghth Circuit decision’ accordingly

warrants a closer examination of Ve.mr:a and its ruling concemning the scope of federal wetlands

casements. -

B6. United States v. Vesterso, 828 F.2d 1234, 1245 (8th Cir. 1987). In lhe 1960s, the United
States purchased wetland easements in Towner County, North Dakota, pursuant 1o the Stamp Act. Id
at 1236. In 1983, the Towner Counry Water Resource District Board begun planning for two drainage
projects. Jd. at:1236-37. The projects essentially cut a ditch through three parcels of property that
were encumbered by federal wetland easements. /d. at 1237. Kent Vesterso was one of the board
members involved in the planning of the projects. /d. The United States prosecuted Vesterso and
others for damaging federal property. /d. at 1238, The pre-1976 wetland casements violated in
Vesterso are identical to those that encumber the Johansens’ land. -Compare Vesterso, 828 F.24 at
1237 n.2 (quonnx the text of ane of the casements at |ssu:). with :npm nolc 2 (quonng relevant
language from one of the Johanscns casements). ,

B7. Vmer:o. 828 F.2d at 1241, :

88. id.

89. Id No(ahly. llus argument advanced by the dcfcndanls in Ves:erso is nrguably very similar 1o
the “acreage defense” which the Johansens attempted to raise in the district court. See infra note 135
and accompanying text (discussing the distinction between these two similar arguments, and the
Johansen court’s justification. for not interpreting Vesterso as precluding the Johansens “acreage
defense™).

90. Vesterso 828 F.2d at 1241. Notably, thu ev:dcnnary offer of proof i is pu:m:sed on csscnnally
the same argument advanced by the State of North Dakota in the North Dakota litigation to support its
contention that lhe pmvmusly given: guberna:onal consents were exhausled and thus the comresponding

eascments were invalid. See supra note 70-75 and accompanying text (discussing North Dakota's.
argumeat that the gubemalonal coasents gives by the State had been exhausted and accordingly the

FWS was barred from acquiring funhcr wetland casements in the State).
91. Vesterso, B28'F.2d at 1241, ' '
92. Id.; see also s‘npra note 74 and accompanymg text (discussing and cmng the l.mg-ungc in
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ame Dakota to mean that wetland easement restrictions did not apply to entire
.arccls of property despite the entire parcel being described in the
easement document’s legal description.93 This, the court reasoned, was
because there were certain portions.of property within the entire parcel
that did not meet the definition of a- wetland as expreused in the easement
agreements.% The court concluded that this interpretation met the pur-
pose of “identifying acreage limitations in the gubcrmatorial consents”
which was to limit amount of state property subject to :the wetland
easement restrictions.95 | - |
Based on this interpretation, the Vesterso court determined the
United States’ burden of proof in wetland violatior cases.96 First, the
United States was not required to legally describe each wetland subject to
the easement restrictions in order to establish that the county guberna-
torial consent acreage limits have not been exceedei.9? Second, if the
United States proved the presence of recorded eas :ments that clearly
described the terms and the existence of “identifiab'e wetlands” on the
parcel, this would sufficiently prove that the United States had a property
interest in the wetlands on the parcel.98 * Accordingly, the court held that .
it was “sufficient for the United States to prove b:yond a reasonable
doubt that identifiable’ wetlands were ‘damaged and that those wetlands
ere within parcels subject to federal easements,”%’  Therefore, until
D:fh l.';akora regarding the gubematorial consent limitation argument adv inced by the State of North

93. Vesterso, 828 F2dat1242. = -
94. Id Specifically, the court stated that “the festrictions mentioned in the easement agreements

do not apply to portions of property, Wwhich, although' included within the « asements’ legal description,
-do not meet the definition of a wetland as expressed in the easement ¢ greements.” Id. (emphasis
added). ' T

95. Id. -Although the court does not explain what “identifying acreage limitations in the -
gubernatorial consents™ means, the author assumes that the court is refet ing to the FWS practice of
specifying the number of wetland acres purchased in the separate Easc nent Summary documents.
See Sagsveen, supra note 9, at 684-85 (describing the pre-1976 ‘FWS pn ctice of including the legal
description of the eatire tract of land, ie., half section; quarter section, i1 the casement conveyance

96. Vesterso, 828 F.2d at 1242, The district court characterized Ves erso as setting the standard
of “what the government must prove™ in a wetland violation case. Unied States v. Johansen, No,
C3-95-62, slip op. at 1 (D.N.D. Nov. 14, 1995) (granting United States’ mo ion in limine),

97. Vesterso, 828 F.2d. at 1242, The courn supported this holding based on a ruling by the
Supreme Court in North Dakota. Id. at 1241-42 (stating that North D.kota “established that the
acreage limitation in the gubematorial consents applics to the established wetland within a parcel and
not to the entire parcel subject to the eascment™). The-Vesterso court also noted the impact that the
gubernatorial consents have on federal wetlands easement agreements. /. at 1242. The court, noting
the role of the gubernatorial conseat, stated-that “{t)he gubematorial cons<nt to the acquisition of the
federal easements described in the easement agreements has already been given. It cannot now have
an cffect on that property interest.” Id. The court reasoned that although the Stamp Act Tequires
gubcrnatorial consent and limits the total acreage that-may be subject to federal casements, alleged
discrepancies cannot be raised when gubematorial consent has previously been given and the United
es has presented a recorded casement describing the wetlands in clear terms. Jd, T

9. d . o , :
99. Id. Notably, the court in Vesterso did not clearly explain how the United States would be able
to prove that “identifiable wetiands were damaged.” /d. In other words, in situations involving
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Johansen, the court in Vesterso had seemingly determined the govern-
ment's burden of proof in cases involving federal wetland easement
violations, 100

II1. CASE ANALYSIS

In Johansen, the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals interpreted the
scope of three federal wetland easements that encumbered farmland in
Steele County, North Dakota.l0! " Specifically, the court addressed the
issue of whether federal wrtland drainage restrictions applied to all the

pre-1976 casements, how was the goyemment to prove that “identifiable wetlands™ were damaged,
since pre:1976 easements give no des ription (of size or location) ol the particular wetlands on the
tract of land? The fact that that quest on was lefi open 1o interpretation in Vesterso, is arguably the
reason that nine years after Vesterso p.c-1976 casements are still being interpreted as to scope. Now
that this question of interpretation has oeen answered by the couit in Johansen, the question remains
whether the decision in Johansen is s 1pported by, or consistent with, the ruling in Vesterso. In that
vein, it is significant to note that Veste: so recognized that there are limitations to the number of acres
the federa) government may acquire. [d..at 1241. Specifically, the court stated that “the clear
purpose of identifying. acreage limitations in the gubernatorial consents [was] to limit the amount of
property that can be subject to [casem :nt] restrictions.” /d. at 1242. The court's recognition of the
Congressionally authorized and State: imposéd acreage limitations, arguably supponts the Johansen
court’s narrow interpretation of pre-19 76 easements. Cf. United States v. Johansen. 93 F.3d 459, 466
(Bth Cir. 1996) (stating that “we belie ¢ it more prudent to . . . interpret[] the easements’ scope in a
matter that fixes the federal acreage counted against the gubernatorial consent limitation™). An
altémnative argument-could be made, | owever, thal certain language in Vesterso also recognized, as
the.Supreme Court did-in North Dakota that the FWS was given the authority to negotiate casements in
_ a way that “respond[s] 1o the inheren ly fluctuating nature of wetlands.” North Dakota v. United
States, 460 U.S. 300, 319 (1983). For :xample, the court in Vesterso states that casement restrictions

do:not apply to those acres on the tract that “although included within the easement’s legal description.

do.not meet the definifion of a wetlans * as expressed in the easement itself.” Vesterso, 828 F.2d at
1242 (emphasis ‘added). The argum nt could be made that Vesrerso impliedly recognized that
easement restrictions are not confined o the acreage amount as specified in the Easement Summaries
because of the inherently fluctuating n ature of a prairic pothole wetland. See id. This proposition is
supported by the view in the wetland ecology field that formulation of a definition for wetlands is
“difficult . . . because wetlands repres:nt fransirional zones between upland and aquatic ecosystems,
and wetlands therefore exhibit some ¢! aracteristics of cach.” ‘B ALDASSARRE, supra nole 26, at 444-46
{emphasis added). Workable and re :ognized definitions, however, do exist. As an example, a
definition of wetlands that is agreed upon by the FWS; Nawral Resource Conservation Service,
Environmental Protection Agency, and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers states:

Wetlands possess three essentia characteristics: (1) hydrophytic vegetation, (2) hydric

soils, and (3) wetland hydrology which is the driving force creating all wetlands. These

characteristics and their technic: ! criteria for identification . . . are mandatory and must

all be met for an area to be icentified as wetland. Thercfore, arcas that meet these

criteria are wetlands. :
Id. at 447 (citing to the Mandatory Tec wical Criteria for Wetland Identification as agreed upon by the
previously. mentioned agencies). ‘To illustrate further, hydric soils, which are “especially useful in
identifying wetland bouridaries,” ‘are 110se:soils that are flooded long enough (usually seven to ten
days) during a growing season to suj port the growth of plants called “hydrophytes.” Id. at 446,
Therefore, although the Vesrerso court did not explicitly explain how the United States would be able
to prove that “identifiable wetlands vvere damaged,” the preceding definition of a wetiand could
provide a way to do so. Morcover, this definition, serving as a means to prove “identifiable wetlands™
were damaged, would accommodate the Supreme Court’s recognition that the FWS was necessarily
given the authority to negotiate easements in a way that “respond(s] to the inherently fluctuating
nature of wetlands." North Dakota, 460 U.S. at 319,

100. See supra note 96 and ac:ompanying text (stating that the district count in this case
characterized the language in Vesterso as making it “clear as lo what the government must prove™).
101. United StaEs v. Johansen, 93 F.3d 459, 462-63 (8th Cir. 1996).

g gy e
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wetlands found on an encumbered tract of land, or were limited to the
" and acres” ‘as specified in the administrative Easement
aries.102 Judge Heaney, writing for a unanimous panel, adopted a
narrower interpretation of the Johansens’ wetlands easements than that
advocated by the United States,103 and than that given to similar
easements in past Eighth Circuit decisions.!® The court held that federal
wetland easemient restrictions are limited to the “wetland acres” as
specified in the accompanying administrative Easement Summaries.!03
The court therefore reversed the district court’s evidentiary ruling
denying the Johansens’ “acreage ‘defense.”106 -
To determine whether the Easement Summaries were indeed rele-
vant evidence, the Johansen court first found it necessary to review how
similar wetland easements had been previously interpreted.!07 In that
vein, the United States argued that prior decisions by the Eighth Circuit
expressly interpreted the wetland easement restrictions to encompass all
wetlands on an encumbered parcel.108 The court conceded that the
United States’ argument was not unreasonable for two reasons. 109 First,
the legal description in the easement conveyance instruments did in fact
describe the entire farmland tract.!10 Second, Circuit case law, at least
until the early 1980s, supported the United States’ broad interpretation
that the easement restrictions prohibited drainage on any portion of an
sbered tract of land.!11 “The court concluded, however, that the
. 02. /d. at'463-64; see also Sagsveen, supra note 9 (explaining that this case arose in large part

due to the pre-1976 FWS practice of having easement conveyance documents describe the wetland
casement as encumbering the entire tract, while the accompanying Easement Summaries represented
that the FWS purchased specific quantities of wetland acreage on the tract). . . ... . .

'103. Joharisen, 93 F.3d at 463, The United States maintaincd that there were “no uncovered
wetlands o [the Johansens'] property.” Brief of Appellce at 20, United States v. Johansen, 93 F.3d
459 (8th Cir- 1996) (No. 95-3996ND)., o

104: Id. t 465; see also infra note 111 (citing Eighth Circuit decisions which interpreted similar
federal wetland easements more broadly). : '

‘10S. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 468. ©

106. 4

107, Id at 463-64. S ST : o L

108, 7d.” 8t'463. The court characterized this argument as suggesting that “ail wetlands found on
an encumbered, tfact at any given time are covered by the casement and cannot be drained in any
fashion.” The Johansens, relying primarily on the Easement Summarics, argued that the casements
covered only a portion of their property and not every wetland that might develop during any given
year. Id. at 463-64. e : v ' ' s

109. Id. at 464. . :

110. Id.: see also Sagsveen, supra note 9, at 685-86 and accompanying’ text {describing the
pre-1976 FWS practicé of including the legal description of ‘the entire tract of land, that is, half
section, quarter section, in the easement conveyance instrument). - - :

111. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 464; see, e.p.. United States v. Seest, 631 F.24 107, 108 (8th Cir, 1980}
(holding that ditching parcel, although not diminishing the surface water, altered the natural flow of
surface and subsurface water, violating the terms of the wetland easement); United States v. Albrecht,
496 F.24 906, 912 (8th Cir. 1974) (holding that a federal wetland easement was not void because the

'ilcd States acquired the casement over an entire section of land): United States v. Welte, 635 F.

.:388, 389 (D.N.D. 1982) (holding that the government was not required to separately identify the
res delineated in the Easement Summaries, since the government had “obtained its easement on
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Supreme Court decision in North Dakota v. United States!i2 rejected the
broader interpretation that had been established by the Eighth Circuit.}!3

~ Regarding the North Dakota litigation, the Johansen court empha-
sized the position the United States took in response to North Dakota’s
argument that the FWS had exceeded gubernatorial consent acreage
limitations.!!4 The court noted that for the purposes of gubernatorial
coasent acreage limitations, the United States had maintained that it
acquired easements over only 764,522 wetland acres, a figure based on
acreage figures specified in the Easement Summaries.!!5 [n other words,
for purposes of the North Dakota litigation, the United States took the
position that it acquired easements only over the number of acres that
corresponded with the acreage listed as “wetland acres” in the Easement
Summaries.116 Yet, in Johansen, the United States argued that all
wetland acres within a particular easement tract were subject to drainage
restrictions.!17 Noting.the contradiction in positions, the Johansen court

all 160 acres™).
112, 460 U,S. 300 (1983). : - :
113. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 465 {citing to North Dakota, 460 U.5. at 311 n.14). The decision in
United States v. Welte, 635 F..Supp. 388 (D.N.D. 1982), a case decided just. prior to the North Dakota
decision and involving a defense theory similar to the Johansens' acreage defense, iflustrates the
change in interpretation of pre-1976 wetland cascments by the Supreme Court. In Welse, the
defendant was convicted of ditching through a pothole on 1and encumbered by an easement ideritical
to the Johansens® eascments. /d. at 388-89. In his defense, Welte asserted that the United States had
not proven that the drained land was part any property covered by the casement. /d. at 389. This
contention, like the Johansens' acreage defense, was based upon the acreage as specified in the
Easement Summarics, which in this casé stated that the easément tract ‘included 22 acres of wetlands.
id.  In rejecting the defense, the district count concluded that “[h)ad the government obtained an
casement on only 22 acres, appellant would have a valid point. The government obtained its easement
on all 160 acres, however.” Jd. Yet, only one year later, the Supreme Court held that the casements’
draining restrictions did not cover the entire tract of land, but instead applied only to the wetlands as
accounted for by the FWS. North Dakota v. United States, 460 U.S. 300, 312 n.14 (1983). Recall that
the wetlands accounted for by the FWS corresponded to the “summation of the wetland acres reported
on the Easement Summary Sheets for all waterfowl production areas acquired in North Dakota.” See
supra noic 74 and accompanying text (discussing the reliance by the Supreme Court on the FWS®
position during interrogatories interposed at the district court level of the North Dakota litigation).
- 114, Johonsen, 93 F.3d at 464-65. Specifically, the United States made the following argument in
its brief before the Supreme Court: : - L
~ Largely because of the peculiar nature of waterfowl production arca country . . . the
Secretary has not atiempted 1o acquire casements based on metes and bounds
descriptions of the individual wetlands or potholes. Rather, he has adopted the practice
of acquiring eascments covering all of the wetlands occurring on .a given described legal
subdivision. Thus, while the casement instrument describes a legal subdivision, the
casement restrictions apply only to the wetlands occurring on that subdivision.

Brief of the United States at 18, North Dakota (No. 81-773) (emphasis in original).

115, Johansen, 93 F.3d at 464, oo ,

116. Id. at 464-65 (emphasis added). Specifically, the Johansen coun noted: “[Flor the
purposes of [the North Dakora] litigation, the United States contended that.the wetland easement
restrictions applied only to the thirty-thres, thirty-three, and thirty-five acres on the Johansens® tracts,
The Supreme Cournt accepted the federal government’s interpretation of the easement restrictions.”
Id. a1 465. The Johanzen court found suppont for the conciusion that the Supreme Coun accepled the
United Stales™ position in footnote 14 of the North Dakota case. See Id. at 465 (quoting approvingly
the language from lootnote 14); see also supra notes 74-75 and accompanying lext (discussing the
Supreme Court’s holding from footnote 14).
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stated that the implication of the United States' position in North Dakota
could only mean in the context of this case that “the United States
acquired easements over thirty-three acres on tracts 21X and 24X and

thirty-five acres on tract 30X."118
- The court was careful to note, however, that although the Supreme
Court in North Dakota had accepted the Unitid States’ argument limit-
ing the easement restrictions to the encumbered parcels’ wetlands, the
Court had not explicitly limited the wetland e: sements to the number of
wetland acres as specified in the Easement Summaries.!!® Nonetheless,
the Johansen court concluded that while the Siupreme Court’s language
in North Dakota could be interpreted to inclu Je all wetlands on a tract
covered by an easement, such an interpretation would give rise to a
*host" of problems.”120 _ - o
Specifically, the court contemplated two problems that would accom-
pany the adoption of the United States’ in'erpretation whereby the
easement restrictions covered all wetlands on an encumbered parcel.121
First, if -easement restrictions applied to all wetlands on an encumbered
parcel, then the number of wetland acres subje:t to easement restrictions
would fluctuate in any given year with the anount of rainfall.!122 Such
fluctuation would be inconsistent with FWS wetland summaries that
annually report the number of wetland acies under its control.123
Fluctha_l_:ing,wetland acres would also be incor sistent with the norms of
real property conveyance.24 * Furthermore, svch a broad interpretation
Johansen (No. 95-3996ND) (responding to the State of North D ikota's contention that terms in the
Eascment Summaries place restrictions upon the federal governi sents property rights in eddition to
those contained in the cascment agreements themselves). Specidically, the United States made the
following argumeat: . ‘ C . . ,
“There is simply nothing inconsistent berween the [FWS) cor ceding that only the wetlands
within the larger tract [are] covered by the drainage limit: tions and therefore that only
that acreage counted against the ‘county consents’ and the [FWS) at the same time
contending that all wetlands within a particular ¢asencnt tract are subject to its
limitations. Quite to the contrary, that is precisely what tae easement requires. By its
specific terms, the limitations only apply to the wetlands and it applies to all wetiands.
Id. (emphasis in original). o
118. Johansen, 93 F.3d a1 465. ) :
119. Id. The Johansen court uses the term “Summary Acrzage™ here. /d, Presumably, this is
mecant 10 represent the number of wetland acres specified in the Easemnent Summarics. Id at 462, 468,
120. /d. at 465-66. : B
121. 1d. at 466, . _ .
A2, .. oo -
123. /d. The court noted that the FWS publishes annual ;ummaries in which it continues to
represent that it controls 33, 33, and 35 acres of wetland on the tracts in question /d. at 462. For over
thirty-years, in fact, the FWS has officially reported to Congress that they control by casements, 33, 33,
and 35 acres respectively on the tracts in question. Appcllants’ Bricf at 33, Johansen (No.

95-3996ND). . - : _ o
124. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 466 (citing 1o RESTATEMENT JF PROPERTY § 45) cmt. m (1944)

(requiring definiteness)).
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would preclude ditching anywhere on the legally-described tract of
land.125 : |

Second, the court recognized that the United States’ interpretation
would create problems with the gubemnatorial consent acreage limita-
tions.!26 The court reasored that if easement restrictions fluctuated with
the number of wetland acres present on a parcel at any given time, then
$O too . would the wetlands counted against the gubernatorial limita-
tions.127 This potential variation “could conceivably” exceed the guber-
natorial limitation .during a wet year, and accordingly, violate the terms
of the program's enabling statute.!28 The court reasoned that to give

meaning to the gubematorial consent provision a direct correg%ggg must
exist umber of wetland acres applied against gubernatorial
consents . and the.-actual acreage encumbered b e—wetland
W& court therefore held Mem—r—af—“?;—l::; easements
— T e

125. Id. Specifically, the court n-asoned that under the United States’ interpretation, “any action
that would inhibit the collection of wat:r in a particular depression would violate its interest in existing
and future wetlands.": Id. Thus, ditc hing anywheré on the parcel would impact the formation of a
wetland because these properties are 'ypically pockeied by depressions at various depths, /d. The
United States argued forcefully in its . etition for rehearing en banc that a broader interpretation of
these easeménts would not prevent titching anywhere on the tract of land: ...This fear is much
exaggerated. The, language of the ea iement makes clear that it covers only the draining of ‘now
existing or reoccurring' water. On its - ace, this language includés only periodic reoccurring wetlands,
not land which is simply covered with vater in times of exceptionally heavy rainfall.” United States'
Petition for.Rehearing En Banc'at 13, lohansen (No. 95-3996ND) (footnote omitted). Further, the
United States stated that “lilndeed, the :FWS) has.promulgated a ‘sheetwater policy,” which expressly
permits the draining of water outside of potholes or other reoccurring wetiands when the land is
flooded due to exceptionally heavy rain * Id. a1 13 n. 12. . - >

126. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 466; see 1350 supra notes 31 and 44 and accompanying text {explaining
the gubematorial consént component of the federal wetlands program’s enabling statute), -

127. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 466. ' ' : '

“128. Id. Interestingly, the court’s position here was suggested by a commentator thirteen years
carlier in this law review journal. Cf. Sa sveen, supra-note 9, at 686 (arguing that the FWS's failure to
describe the size and location of all 'retlands. subject to 3 wetland easement in a county could
potentially éxhatist gubernatorial consen: limitations and cause wetlands to lose their protection during
very wet seasons), . . R ‘ o B

129. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 465. T wvo interesting and - arguably. valid arguments countering the
court’s reasoning here were raised by th - United States and the Audubon Society in their petition for
rehearing en banc briefs. First, the Un ted States argued that even under the view that fluctuating
wetland acres may exceed the Bubemator al consent caps, “the solution is not to limit the extent of the

on an individual basis. Interview with Lynn Crooks, Assistant United States Attorney for North
Dakota, in Fargo, North Dakota {Sept. 3, 1996) [hereinafter Interview with Crooks]. Thus, if in a
given year the consent cap was exceeded duc to excessive flooding, only the last easements acquired
would be affected, and aot all individual asements proportionally. /d. It follows then that since the
Johansens® easement are some of the earli.:st ones taken in Stesle County, theirs would not be affected
by anything short of a flood of biblical pioportions. /d. The Audubon Society, taking a procedural
angle, argued that there was “no basit, in the context of this case, for adopting a restricted
interpretation of the easement acreages b: sed on a concern” that fluctuating wetlands would exceed
gubematorial consents, Memorandum of Amicus Curaie Nationat Audubon Society in Support of
Pelition for Rehearing at 12, Johansen (N1 95-3996ND). The Audubon Society pointed out that the
Johansens', in their opening brief on appea!, affirmed the fact that the gubernatorial consent limitation

»
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hased prior to 1976 were limited to the acreage provided in the Ease-
t Summaries. 30

Based on its interpretation of the easements in question, the court
addressed the United States’ motion in limine to the district court. 131
The United States had argued that the court in United States v.
Vestersoli? rejected the notion of limiting wetland easement restrictions
to the wetland acres listed in the Easement' Summaries. 133 However, to
interpret Vesterso in a manner consistent with this opinion, the court
explained that the language of Vesterso must be understood within the
context of the opinion.!34 Vesterso, the court explained, simply rejected
the defendants’ argument that the United States failed to comply with
the program’s gubematorial limitations by not “identifying all wetlands
covered by the federal easements.”135 In other words, Vesterso stood for

for Steele County, North Dakota did not exceed the acres authorized. /d. (citing to Appellants” Brief
at 11-12, Johansen (No. 95-3996ND)). Therefore, the Johansen court’s concern for gubernatorial
consent caps being exceeded was imrelevant to the resolution of the instant case. Jd. Neither of the
preceding arguments were advanced by the United States in its opening brief on appeal, but only upon
petitioning for rehearing en bane. .~ _ i Coe T
130. " Johansen, 93 F.3d at 466. The court stated that this interpretation has the “additional
advantage”.of being consistent with “prior representations by the' federal government of its interest in
the properties.” Id. at 466-67. Specifically, the court noted the United States® position taken in North
Dakota, 460 U.S. at 311 n.14, ang the wetland acreage totals as reported in the FWS Annual Sarvey.
¢ supra note 74 and accompanying text (discussing the position taken by the FWS during
gatories interposed at the district court leve! of the North Dakora litigation).
31, Johansen, 93 F.3d at 467. ; : ;
132, 828°F.2d 1234 (8th Cir. 1987).
133. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 467. _ : : -
134.” Id. The court concluded that the United States had taken the Vesterso language out of
context. /d, -~ - ' : '

133, Id. The court is apparently referring to the following argument made in Vesterso by the
defendants: c
The [defendants] claim that the United States did not establish that the wetlands damaged
in this case were actually covered by federal easements. According to the appellants,
Congress aliowed the State 1o limit the number of acres which could be subject to federal
easemicnts. The' [defendants] assert that the limit established by the State has beén
exceeded. Because it has not been established which wetlands were within the limitation
and which were without it, it has not been established beyond a reasonable doubt that the
appellants damaged federal property, .. Co
Vesterso, 828 F.2d at 1241; see also supra notes 88-91 (discussing the holding from Vesterso regarding
this argument). This argument advanced by the defendants in Vesterso is arguably very similar o the
“acreage defense™ which the Johansens asserted in this case. In fact, the United States argued in its
appellate brief that the defense offered by the defendants in Vesrerso, and rejected by the that cour,

was the same as the argument advanced by the Johansens in their “acreage defense.” Specifically,
the United States argued: 8 '

In Vesterso . . . the defendants, like the (Johansens], apparently thought they saw a
possible change in the law in footnote 14 of the Supreme Court opinion [in North
Dakota). [The defendants in Vesterso] argued that the Supreme Court was limiting the
coverage of the cascments to the precise number of wetland acres contained in the
wetland summaries: This court disagreed . . . {and] affirmed the district court’s refusal
.of an offer of proof, again based upon wetland summaries, which purported 10 show that

while the United States had only been authorized 27,000 wetland acres, it had actually
encumbered 151,743,

Brief of Appellee at 17-18, Johansen (No. 95-3996ND). Arguably, the United States’ argument here
is slightly misptaced. ‘The Johansens’ “acreage defense” theory did not involve an evidentiary offer
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the proposition that under pre-1976 easements the United States need
not legally describe the confines of each covered wetland to comply with
gubernatorial consent limitations, an .issue that had already been decided
by the Supreme Court in North Dakota .36 Therefore, the Vesterso lan-
guage was not to be read as prohibiting draining of any wetland on an
encumbered parcel.!37 . | :

The Johansen court next distinguished the government’s burden of
proof as established in Vesterso and that required as a result of the hold-
ing in this case.!38 The holding in Vesterso, the court explained, meant
that the United States must prove that “identifiable, covered wetlands (as
existing at the time of the easement’s conveyance and described in the
Easement Summary) were damaged,” and that the Johansens knew the
parcel was encumbered by a federal easement.139

Finally, the court pointed to two other factors to further support
this “revised interpretation.”$40 First, the court referred to cautionary
language at the end of the Vesterso opinion which, the court claimed,
further clarified the meaning of the Vesterso holding with respect to the
government’s burden of proof.14! That is, the Vesterso court had
cautioned landowners that the first step before undertaking any drainage
on encumberéd tracts of land was to consult with the FWS.142 The court.

of proof. whereby they alleged that particular casements were invalid because gubemnatorial consents
had been exhausted, In fact, the Johansens conceded that the “FWS has ‘not exceeded the governor's
9,618 wetlands acres cap in.Steeie County, North Dakota, because uider { North Dakota) it is clear the
FWS has acquired only 3,977 acres of wetlands casements in Steeie County.” . Appellants’ Brief in
Response to Government's Petition for Rehearing En Banc, at 8-9, Johansen {No. 95-3996ND).
Rather, the Johansens’ “acreage defense” is built on the premise that for pre-1976 wetland easements,
the easement restrictions apply only to those wetlands which correspond 1o the number of acres as
specificd in the Easement Summaries. Supra note 17 (explaining the “acreage defense™). Though this
distinction was not discussed by the Johansen court in its opinion, it does support the court’s holding
which narrowed the interpretation of prior Eighth Circuit decisions involving wetland casements.
136. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 467.
137. id. . _
138. Id at 467-68. e
139. Id. at 467 (cmphasis and parentheses in original). Notably, the Johansen court just adds a
féw clarifying words to the pertinent language from Vesterso. Compare Vesterso, 828 F.2d at 1242
(stating that “[the United States must prove] that identifiable wetlands were damaged and that those
wetlands were within parcels subject to federal casements™), wirh Johansen, 93 F.3d at 467 (stating
that “(the United Stales must prove) that identifiable, covered wetlands (as existing at the time of the
easement’s conveyance and described in the Easement Summary) were damaged and the defendant
knew that the parcel was subject to a federal easement”) (emphasis added in both quotations).
: 140. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 467-68. .
141. Id at 467. S :
142. Id. ‘The Johansen court is referring to the following language from Vesterso:
We point out, however, that the State of North Dakota and landowners are not without
recourse if the easements cause flooding, for example, which resulis from nonnatural
obstructions to water flow. The prudeni course in any event requires consultation with
the [FWS] before yna‘ertaking drainage on parcels covered by easemenis. _
Id, (citing to Vesterso, 829 F.2d at 1245) (emphasis added by court). In the author’s opinion, this
staternent by the Vesterso court implicitly acknowledged that in ycars of excessive moisture, drainage
would be a normal course of #ttion, so long as such action was predicated by consultation with the
FWSs. : - '




noted that the Johansens had sought cooperation with the FWS in their
efforts to contain the flooding that covered their firmland, but that the
ooperation envisioned by the court in Vesterso was not forthcoming.143
econd, the court referred to United States v. Schienborn )44 a federal
wetlands violation case in which the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals for
the first time exammed evidence showmg which w:tlands existed at the
time of the easement conveyance.!45 Such an examination, the Johansen
court reasoned, was a “clear departure” from the (ourt’s prior practice
of focusing on any ditching of the encumbered jarcel.146 Therefore,
Schoenborn . “implicitly acknowledged" a narrov/er mterpretanon of
federal wetland easements.147
Based on the foregoing analysis, the court in Johansen held that the
federal wetland easements at issue. acquired title only on the amount of
acreage speclﬁed in the Easement Summaries that a:companied the ease-
ment document itself.!48  The court concluded thiat the language from
Vesterso.required that the culpability element of this crime must be met
by proof that the defendant knew the parcel was subjsct to a wetland ease-
ment.!49 However, in an effort to clarify the holding in Vesterso, the
court ruled that the United States must also prove that the landowner
“drained the ‘Summary Acreage covered by the f:deral wetland ease-
ment. "150 Conversely, the court reasoned, a defendant must be allowed
o introducé evidence to prove tm_drcr‘ﬁﬁt'ngrs'ummzry
creage.!5! The court therefore reversed the district court’s pretrial
evidentiary rulmg and rerhanded the case Consistent with the opinion.152

143. Id.; see also supra notes 12-15 and accompanymg text (d scussmg the con'espondence
between ‘Kemry Johansen and the FWS). o

144, 860 F.2d 1448 (8th Cir. 1988). ‘

145. Schoenborn, 860 F.2d at 1453-35. In Schoenborn, the defendant was charged for damaging
federal wetland property. See id. (discussing the various casement viclations caused by draining of
basins and filling of dxlchcs) The wetland easements involved in Schoenborn were nearly identical to
pre-1976 casements in Johansen. Compare Schoenborn, 860 F.2d at 1449 (quoting part of the
casement's language), with supra note 2 (quoting language from one «f the Johensens’ easements).
The court in Schoenborn noted that at trial, the government produced evidence which consisted of
aerial photographs at different dates, testimony interpreting the photographs, and testimony of visual
observations. Schoenborn, 860 F.2d at 1453. .

146. Jahwueu. 93F.3d a:468

147. Id.

148. 4

149. Id.

150. /d.

151, id

152. Id. On Navember 29 1996 the Eighth Circuit Court of Apjeals denied the government's
Petition for Rehearing and Suggestion for Rehearing En Banc. '




IV. IMPACT

The holding in United States v. Johansen has potentially far-reach-
ing legal and practicai unpllcatlons 153 First, the Johansen holding may
be contrary to a specific ruling in' the Supreme Court decision North
Dakota.v. United States. Second, the decision arguably deals a blow to
federal wetland presewanon efforts because it effectively imposes upon
the. federal government another element of proof in wetland easement
violation cases. In North Dakota alone, the decision will likely affect the
enforcement of approrimately 11,000 federal wetland easements.

A. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS—JOHANSEN MAY Be CorrrRARY TO SUPREME
COURT PRECEDENT

The Johansen court’s “revised mlerpretatxon of the Circuit’s
prior holding in Vesterso may be mterpreted to be inconsistent with a
specific ruling of the Supreme Court in North Dakata As previously
discussed, the Johansen court relied heavily on the United States’
litigating position in Worth Dakota (in the context of the gubernatorial
consent chal]enge) which mamtamed that it had acquired easements over
only 764,522 wetland acres, a figure based on the acreage figures
specified in the Easenient Summaries.!54 The Johansen court reasoned’
that the Supreme Court's adoption of that position suggested that
wetland acreage “is a set figure and not subject to fluctuation.”153 The
argument could be maile, however, that the Supreme Court’s ruling later
in the opinion regarding “after-expanded wetlands™ demonstrates that
the Court sought to avoid an absolute limit on the amount of wetlands
subject to easement n*stnctnons ‘during wet years.156 For instance, the

153. This case has gene-ated considerable discussion by parties outside the litigation. For
instance, amicus curige briefs have been submitted by the State of North Dakota and the National
Audubon Society. See Amicis Brief of the State of North Dakota, Johansen (No. 95-3996ND);
Memorandum of Amicus Curia: National Audubon Society in Suppoit of Petition by the United States
for Rehearing, Johansen (No. - 15-3996ND). One commentator recently characterized’ thc impact of
the Johansen case as follows:

- The decision is being bailed by private propmy advocata as a hallmark for future
* litigants who may be pomuled for their attempts to “contain surplus water to the
protected federal wetlani s” and who scek the cooperation of. the government but whose
efforts are halted by the ‘bureauéracy. The Johansen' decision also should provide a
useful precedent to stym ¢ the cfforts of government to broaden the scope of tools, such
as wetlands casements, &t increase regulation over private property. It will be interesting
to observe how the goverament—and other jurisdictions—react 1o this decision.
Malia Simon Kishore, Property Owners Score Victory over Wetlands Easements, NATURAL RESOURCES
& ENVIRONMENT, Vol. 11, No. 3 Winter 1997, at 44,

154, Johansen, 93 F.3d at -\64-65; see also supra notes 74-76 and 118-123 (explaining the United
States' position, the Supreme Curt’s adoption of that position, and the Johansen court's emphasis on
the Court’s adoption of that posi ion).

155. Johansen, 93 F.3d a1 .65 8.

156. North Dakota v. Ui ncd States, 460 U.S. 300, 319 (1983); see supra notes 78-84 and
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Court in North Dakota stated that in order to respond to the “inherently
fluctuating nature of wetlands,” the FWS had been given Congressional
authorization to negotiate wetland easements which inciuded restrictions
on “after-expanded wetlands.”157 Thus, the Court ruled that the North
Dakota statute was hostile to federal law, to the extent that the statute
authonzed drainage of “after-expanded wetlands” contrary to express
terms of previously conveyed easement agreements.!58 It could be
argued, therefore, that this ruling should also apply to the easements
involved in this case, where the easement language included restrictions

“on all "natural and reoccurring .wetlands” - within the entire 'parcel 159

By imposing . an acreage hmltatlon based on the information in the
Easement Summaries, the Johansen court granted relief which the
Supreme Court arguably denied to the State in North Dakota.160

accompanying text (discussing:the ruling that the United Slatcs may impose casement restrictions on

wc!lands outside the bounds of the easement itself).

“157. North Dakota, 460 U.S. it 319, i '

158. Id. It is important to note that the Supreme Court’s ruling concerned the North Dakota
statute and its retation to standard posr-1976 casement agreements. See id. at 317 (referring to “[t]he
United . States’ standmi casement agreement [which] contains a clause proh:batmg the draining of
aﬁer-expanded wetlands, see n.6, supra, and § 20.1-02-18.2(2) which might be read to void such
clauses™). The. casement the Suprerne Coun referred 1o in footnote 6 of its opinion is a post-i976
easement.

159.. See supra note 2 (quoung language from one of the Johansens® casements). The major flaw,
however. in this argumcnt is that the casement under discussion was a post-1976 casement, in which
the landowner negotiated and conveyed an cascment -coyering specific wetlands and any

;_after-expans:on .of those wetlands, Therefore; this argument might be misplaced for two reasons.
Fsm. the Supreme Court's “after-expansion” language arguably refers only to wetlands delineated on -

a ap, attached to and recorded with each post-1976 casement. Second, the “aﬁcr-expans:on
language does not apply to any wetlands that ‘deveiop after conveyance and were not mcluded in the
accompanying map (that is, those wetlands developing during periods of extreme moisture).
160, 'In addition to being contrary to Suprcme Court precedent, the United States also o argued in
its: petition for rehearing that the holdmg in' Johansen conflicts with the Eighth Circuit precedent;
specifically, the Circuit's prior decision-in -United States. v: Vesterso, 828 F.2d 1234 (8th Cir. 1987).
Petition for Rehearing En Banc at 8-9, Johansen, (No. 95-3996ND); see also supra note 139 and
accompanying text (comparing the_holdings of the two decisions). Although the Johansen court
characterizes its holding as a “rcvised mterprctauon" of its prior law, Johansen, 93 F.3d at 467, this
revision arguably adds another element to the federal govemment’s burden of proof, -thus effecung a
substantial change in prior Eighth Circuit law. See supra notes 143-47 and accompanying text
(discussing the added clement to the govcrnmcnt s burden of proof) “The court in- Johansen did offer
an' explanation’ for the incons:slency bctween :ts holdmg and prior Eighth Circuit precedent. Johansen,
93 F.3d at-464. That is, the Gotrt reasoned that the Supreme Court decision in North Dakota rejected
prior E|ghth Circuit precedent which interpreted the easements to encumber all wetlands on a parcel.
Id.; see also supra notes 105-108 (hstmg and explmmng the Eighth Circuit cases that the Johansen
court claims were rejected by North Dako:a) The United States argued, however, that the Johansen
court failed to acknowledge that'the Circuit's decision in .Vesterso came four years after the decision
in North Dakota. Moreover, the court dlsregarded the fact that Vesterso cited to Nortk Dakota to
support its conclusion regarding the federal govcmmcnt s burden of proof in wetland violation cases.
Vesterso, 828 F.2d at 1242 (cumg to North Dakota, 460 U.S. at 315). In [act, the Vesterso court had
relied on United States v. Welte in establishing the government’s burden of proof, Vesterso, 828 F.2d at
1242 {citing to United States v, Welte, 635 F. Supp. 388, 389-90 (D. N.D. 1982)), which Johansen says
the Supreme Court’ re_]ectcd Johansen, 93 F.3d at 464 (stating that the “interpretation given the
easeiments by this court in the early 1980s was rejected by the Supreme Court.”). The court in
Johansen did not address this argument by the United States. :
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" B. " PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONs—PROBLEMS WITH PROOF |

Legal issues aside, the holding in Johansen, adopting a narrower
interpretation of certain federal wetland easements, deals a blow to
federal waterfow! preservation efforts by reducing the effective scope of
the easements. In addition to narrowing the scope of the easements, the
holding also makes enforcement of the easements’ more difficult, and
perhaps impossible. Whereas Vesterso established that ‘the government
must prove that “identifiable™ wetlands were damaged; 161 the Johansen
court added another element of proof:!62 so that now the ‘goveérnment
must also prove that the wetlands drained were “identifiable, covered
wetlands (as existing at the time of the easement's conveyance “and
described in the EasementSummary).”163 The Johansen_court’s
requirement that the damaged wetlands be those existing at the time of
conveyance, and as described in the Easement Summa ,»_presents a
problem for pre- ts: Nowhere in the administrative Ease-
Tnen aries’ are there descriptions delineating which wetlands are
meant to be covered or where they are located,!64 as'the Easement
Summaries contain a description of size only.!65 As a result, the United
States, armed only with the knowledge as to the number of wetland acres
purchased, will “apparently have’ difficulty determining exactly what
patticilar wetlands were intended to be covered by the easement. That
is, given the nature of prairie region wetlands, 166 it may be difficult, if
not impossible, for the United States to establish which wetlands were,
intended to be covered by an easement, and the extent to which they are -
covered.167 The United States maintains that the Easement Summaries

161, Vesterso, 828 F.2d at 1242. . .

. 162. Johansen, 93 F.3d at 467-68; see also supra notes 133-34 and accompanying text
(explaining how the Johansen cournt apparently added another element to be proven by the United
States in & wetlands violation case). - o ‘

+ 163. Johansen, 93-F.3d at 467 (parcatheses in original), o .

- 164, See Sagsveen, supra note 9, at 686 (describing how failure of the FWS to describe the size
and location of all wetlands subject to wetland casements may jeopardize the integrity of the
casements).. S S L A

~ 165, Johansen, 93 F.3d at-462. In Johansen, the court summarized the information that was
contained in the Easement Summaries. The couft stated the information “includ[ed) the tract
description, the tract acreage, the -wetland acreage, and the cost.of wetland per acre.” /d. The
“wetland acreage” is described only in terms of nun ' L

umber of acres, Id.” _

'166. See North Dakota v.-United States, 460 U.S. 300, 304 1.4 (1983) (explaining the glacial
history and namure of the prairie region wellands); sée also supra note 99 (explaining that because.
prairie wetlands are continually in a state of transition, formulating a definition of a “wetland™ is
difficul?). “ : _ .

- 167. Appellee’s Petition for Rehearing En Banc o 7, Johansen (No. 95-3996ND). The United
States argued how difficult it would be to prove precisely which wetlands were intended to be covered
by a particular casement, and the extent to which- cach wetland was to be covered. /4. The United
States stated: : B . ‘

The [court’s) opinion is ambjguous. [t uses the term “semmary acreage™ {0 mean the
wetland acres covered by the easements, and seems to imply that this land is described in

-
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may be unobtainable for some parcels of l:nd,168 which, under the
Johansen ruling, wuld make enforcement of tae easements impossible.
Furthermore, wetland acreage estimates were :enerally not made from
ground''inspections, but rather from reviewing aerial photographs,
sometimes taken years before acquisition.!69 Often the acreage cal-

~ culations were merely an estimate of average witland acreage per square

mile for the area.170 Moreover, pre-1976 feder 1l wetland easements did
not contain maps locating the wetlands subjict to the easements. 17!
Therefore, requiring the government to det:rmine-the size of the
identifiable and covered wetlands will arguably make the enforcement of

these federal wetlands easements nearly impossible.172 -

As it stands, the holding in Joharnsen has both practical and legal
implications. As discussed, the federal govern nent’s ability to enforcs
several thousand wetland easements in the future is severely impaired. In
addition to its practical problems, Johansen may also stand on unstable
legal ground, as the narrow interpretation of feleral wetland easements
may run counter tb a specific ruling by-the United States Supreme
Court. * Thus, it seems that given both the practical and legal effects of

‘this'case, the impact of the Johansen decision will be felt for quite some
time. "~ o C :

.. o .. .~ Paul D."Odegaard'™

the we-tﬂnd: summaries. Thosc summaries, however, stale o.ily an cstimated amount of
wetlands covered by the easemeat, and do not indicate the loc ition of those wetlands,

. idatTn8 . o

168. Interview with Crooks, supra note 129,
169, id.
170, Id. o B . .
171, Id.; see also Sagsveen, supra note 9, at 686 (explaining ths ! the prior to 1976 the FWS failed
toqiuﬂibethesizcmdloaﬁonéhﬂwedmdsmbjectmwahndumu). . Co
172, Id ) : : o
I, lwduldEkelodedimﬂ;iauﬁc!etotwomuwlnhavelmv_eryinﬂuenﬁa!inmylifc—
my grandfathers, Clifford Odegaard and the late Alfred Hulse, both iife long farmers near Westhope,
N.D.. and who because of thém 1 was sble to take interest in and aj preciate the inherent dilemma in
this case — that there is a delicate balance between environimental | onservation and s farmer’s right
to make a living off the land. = oo ' : _

T e
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TESTIMONY ON HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION 3026
House Energy and Natural Resources Committee

Robert Shaver, Director
Water Appropriation Division
Office of the State Engineer

February 10, 2011

Mr. Chairman and members of the House Energy and Natural Resource Committee, |
am Robert Shaver, Director of the Water Appropriation Division, Office of the State
Engineer. On behalf of the State Engineer, Todd Sando, | offer the foliowing comments
on House Concurrent Resolution No. 3026, urging Congress to require renegotiation of
United States Fish and Wildiife Service (USFWS) wetlands easements.

It is my understanding that most of the concern regarding USFWS wetlands easements
is due to the expansion of wetland areas during the recent abnormally wet climate cycle
and the resulting loss of farmland and damage to private property. Easement holders
are unable to mitigate this problem by pumping excess water because the USFWS
asserts wetland easements will be violated. There is another dimension to the wetlands
easement issue that is generally unknown to the public, and that is extending the intent
of the easement to restrict ground-water pumping for beneficial use. This is the issue
that | would like to describe to committee members today.

To explain the root of the problem, a lot of water that is used for towns, homes,
livestock, industry, and irrigation in North Dakota is pumped from shallow unconfined
aquifers. An example of an unconfined aquifer is shown in Figure 1. As you can see, the
surface of the water table is near land surface over much of the aquifer area. Before
pumping for beneficial use, all water recharged to shallow unconfined aquifers is
discharging somewhere. A lot of the ground water is discharging through
evapotranspiration in shallow water table areas (area A, Fig.1). Some of it is also
discharging by evaporation through wetlands (area C, Fig.1). When we pump ground
water for beneficial use for our towns, livestock, industry, and irrigation, the pumping
lowers the water table, which in turn decreases surface evaporation. Some of the
pumped water is derived from wetlands. This is shown in Figure 2 as the drawdown
cone extends into areas where discharge is lost to evapotranspiration and wetiand
evaporation. If, as the USFWS desires, you cannot capture water from wetlands, then
the aquifer must for all practical purposes remain undeveloped and littie ground water
can be put to beneficial use. This is shown in Figure 3. Wells cannot be instailed in the
yellow shaded area because pumping will capture ground water flowing to wetlands.



Example of a USFWS Wetland Easement and Contemporary Interpretation by the
USFWS

As part of this testimony, | have attached a copy of a USFWS wetland easement in
Kidder County, North Dakota. The second-to-the last paragraph on page one of the
easement reads:

The parties of the first part, for the themselves and for their heirs, successors
and assigns, covenant and agree that they will cooperate in the maintenance
of the aforesaid lands as a water fowl production area by not draining or
permitting the draining, through the transfer of appurtenant water rights or
otherwise, of any surface water including lakes, ponds, marshes, sloughs,
swales, swamps, or potholes, now existing or reoccurring due to natural
causes on the above described tract, by ditching or any other means; by not
filling in with earth or any other material or leveling, any part or portion of the
above-described tract on which surface water or marsh vegetation is now
existing or hereafter reoccurs due to natural causes; and by not burning any
areas covered with marsh vegetation. It is understood and agreed that this
indenture imposes no other obligations or restrictions upon the parties of the
first part and that neither they nor their successors, assigns, lessees, or any
other person or party claiming under them shall in any way be restricted from
carrying on farming practices such as grazing, hay cutting, plowing, working
and cropping wetlands when the same are dry of natural causes, and that
they may utilize all of the subject lands in the customary manner except for
the draining, filling, leveling, and burning provisions mentioned above.

Emphasis added.

Attention is drawn to the term “any other means”. The USFWS now asserts the wetland
easement would be violated if the easement holder were to pump ground water for
beneficial use from the aquifer underlying easement land because pumping is a
‘means” by which wetlands could be drained. The USFWS routinely files letters of
objection to the issuance of ground water permits by the State Engineer if their wetland
sinterests” could be adversely affected by the proposed pumping. Letters of objection
are not only filed in opposition to water permit applications where the points of diversion
(areas where ground water will be pumped) have USFWS wetland easements, but in
applications where the points of diversion are nearby lands that have USFWS wetland
easements.

Based on the previous description of surficial, unconfined aquifers, it is clear that some
ground water pumping that can be accommodated on a sustainable basis, will capture
surface water occurring in wetlands. If wetlands are to be protected to the extent
desired by the USFWS, then large volumes of water in surficial, unconfined aquifers in
North Dakota will be prevented from being put to beneficial use.



Wetland easements obtained by the USFWS in the 1960's were agreed within a
conceptual framework of surface drainage and not within a conceptual framework of
ground water and surface water intersection. In most states, at that time, there existed
little, if any legal recognition of ground water and surface water interaction. In addition,
some surficial. aquifers in North Dakota were yet to be adequately mapped and defined.
USFWS wetland easements were originally understood by landowners to restrict
surface drainage not ground water pumping. Given the current position of the USFWS,
the small lease payment ($1.67/acre for the attached lease) effectively preempts all
rights of property deveiopment using both surface and ground water on the entire
parcel. This means the land is then permanently locked into pasture or dry land crops
and cannot be improved for higher value — something which was not evident or
understood by either acting party at the time the easement was established — but
something derived from a more recent understanding of ground water/surface water
interactions. Most landowners wouid not have encumbered their lands with this
understanding, and certainly would not have encumbered them for the prices offered.
As previously mentioned, the USFWS desires to restrict any ground water pumping in
areas where wetland easements exist. Thus, uncompensated neighbors, with no
wetland easements are to be restricted from pumping ground water for beneficial use.
The USFWS has effectively adopted a position that every landowner in the “area of
influence” of their easements is locked into pasture and dry land agriculture and cannot
develop their property using the ground water resource.

The contemporary interpretation of USFWS wetland easements by the USFWS is
outside of the scope of the original intent of the easement that was to prevent surface
drainage of wetlands. Extending the wetland easement to include and restrict ground
water pumping for beneficial use is unacceptable and violates the rights of North Dakota
water users. The State Engineer is not opposed to wetland protection; however, the
State Engineer is opposed to methods used by the USFWS to achieve wetland
protection. Based on the above, the North Dakota State Engineer supports House
Concurrent Resolution No. 3026.
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TESTIMONY ON ENGROSSED HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION 3026
Senate Natural Resources Committee

Robert Shaver, Director
“Water Appropriation Division
Office of the State Engineer

March 18, 2011

Mr. Chairman and members of the Senate Natural Resource Committee, | am Robert
Shaver, Director of the Water Appropriation Division, Office of the State Engineer. On
behalf of the State Engineer, Todd Sando, | offer the following comments on Engrossed
House Concurrent Resolution No. 3026, urging Congress to require renegotiation of
United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) wetlands easements.

It is my understanding that most of the concern regarding USFWS wetlands easements
is due to the expansion of wetland areas during the recent abnormally wet climate cycle
and the resulting loss of farmland and damage to private property. Easement holders
are unable to mitigate this problem by pumping excess water because the USFWS
asserts wetland easements will be violated. There is another dimension to the wetlands
easement issue that is generally unknown to the public, and that is extending the intent
of the easement to restrict ground-water pumping for beneficial use. This is the issue
that | would like to describe to commiftee members today.

To explain the root of the problem, a lot of water that is used for towns, homes,
livestock, industry, and irrigation in North Dakota is pumped from shallow unconfined
aquifers. An example of an unconfined aquifer is shown in Figure 1. As you can see, the
surface of the water table is near land surface over much of the aquifer area. Before
pumping for beneficial use, all water recharged to shallow unconfined aquifers is
discharging somewhere. A lot of the ground water is discharging through
evapotranspiration in shallow water table areas (area A, Fig.1). Some of it is also
discharging by evaporation through wetlands (area C, Fig.1). When we pump ground
water for beneficial use for our towns, livestock, industry, and irrigation, the pumping
lowers the water table, which in turn decreases surface evaporation. Some of the
pumped water is derived from wetlands. This is shown in Figure 2 as the drawdown
cone extends into areas where discharge is lost to evapotranspiration and wetland
evaporation. if, as the USFWS desires, you cannot capture water from wetlands, then
the aquifer must for all practical purposes remain undeveloped and little ground water
can be put to beneficial use. This is shown in Figure 3. Wells cannot be installed in the
yeliow shaded area because pumping will capture ground water flowing to wetlands.



. Example of a USFWS Wetland Easement and Contemporary Interpretation by the
USFWS

As part of this testimony, | have attached a copy of a USFWS wetland easement in
Kidder County, North Dakota. The second-to-the last paragraph on page one of the
easement reads:

The parties of the first part, for the themselves and for their heirs, successors
and assigns, covenant and agree that they will cooperate in the maintenance
of the aforesaid lands as a water fowl production area by not draining or
permitting the draining, through the transfer of appurtenant water rights or
otherwise, of any surface water including lakes, ponds, marshes, sloughs,
swales, swamps, or potholes, now existing or reoccurring due to natural
causes on the above described tract, by ditching or any other means; by not
filling in with earth or any other material or leveling, any part or portion of the
above-described tract on which surface water or marsh vegetation is now
existing or hereafter reoccurs due to natural causes; and by not burning any
areas covered with marsh vegetation. It is understood and agreed that this
indenture imposes no other obligations or restrictions upon the parties of the
first part and that neither they nor their successors, assigns, lessees, or any
other person or party claiming under them shall in any way be restricted from

. carrying on farming practices such as grazing, hay cutting, plowing, working
and cropping wetlands when the same are dry of natural causes, and that
they may utilize all of the subject lands in the customary manner except for
the draining, filling, leveling, and burning provisions mentioned above.

Emphasis added.

Attention is drawn to the term “any other means”. The USFWS now asserts the wetiand
easement would be violated if the easement holder were to pump ground water for
beneficial use from the aquifer underlying easement land because pumping is a
“means” by which wetlands could be drained. The USFWS routinely files letters of
objection to the issuance of ground water permits by the State Engineer if their wetland
“interests” could be adversely affected by the proposed pumping. Letters of objection
are not only filed in opposition to water permit applications where the points of diversion
(areas where ground water will be pumped) have USFWS wetland easements, but in
applications where the points of diversion are nearby lands that have USFWS wetland
easements.

Based on the previous description of surficial, unconfined aquifers, it is clear that some

ground water pumping that can be accommodated on a sustainable basis, will capture

surface water occurring in wetlands. If wetlands are to be protected to the extent

desired by the USFWS, then large volumes of water in surficial, unconfined aquifers in
. North Dakota will be prevented from being put to beneficial use.



Wetland easements obtained by the USFWS in the 1960's were agreed within a
conceptual framework of surface drainage and not within a conceptual framework of
ground water and surface water intersection. In most states, at that time, there existed
little, if any legal recognition of ground water and surface water interaction. In addition,
some surficial aquifers in North Dakota were yet to be adequately mapped and defined.
USFWS wetland easements were originally understood by landowners to restrict
surface drainage not ground water pumping. Given the current position of the USFWS,
the small lease payment ($1.67/acre for the attached lease) effectively preempts all
rights of property development using both surface and ground water on the entire
parcel. This means the land is then permanently locked into pasture or dry land crops
and cannot be improved for higher value — something which was not evident or
understood by either acting party at the time the easement was established — but
something derived from a more recent understanding of ground water/surface water
interactions. Most landowners would not have encumbered their lands with this
understanding, and certainly would not have encumbered them for the prices offered.
As previously mentioned, the USFWS desires to restrict any ground water pumping in
areas where wetland easements exist. Thus, uncompensated neighbors, with no
wetland easements are to be restricted from pumping ground water for beneficial use.
The USFWS has effectively adopted a position that every landowner in the “area of
influence” of their easements is locked into pasture and dry land agriculture and cannot
develop their property using the ground water resource.

The contemporary interpretation of USFWS wetland easements by the USFWS is
outside of the scope of the original intent of the easement that was to prevent surface
drainage of wetlands. Extending the wetland easement to include and restrict ground
water pumping for beneficial use is unacceptable and viclates the rights of North Dakota
water users. The State Engineer is not opposed to wetland protection; however, the
State Engineer is opposed to methods used by the USFWS to achieve wetland
protection. Based on the above, the North Dakota State Engineer supports Engrossed
House Concurrent Resolution No. 3026.
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Rev,- 1963
. UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR ¢4/
~ U. S. FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE
\ BUREAU OF SPORT FISHERIES AND WILDLIFE

\ CONVEYANCE ' OF E.ASEMENT FOR WATERFOWL MANAG;EMENT RIGHTS

THIS INDENTURE, by and between Percy Horst:aml Rase Horst, husband and -
H“E. °£ sﬂeem' Kﬂfth anata . ) _1-.--':.‘}‘; ;-_-';‘,l, ﬂ:"‘.-'.;-::_-.. ..‘Z._,:'. ‘,. .

perties of the first part, and the UNITED STATES CF AMERICA, acting by gnd -throngh- the Secretary of
the Interior or his suthorized Tepresentative, party of the second part.

WITNESSETH:.

- _ WHEREAS, section 4 of the Migratory Bird Hunting Stamp Act of March 16, 1934, as amended
by sectich 3 of tha dct of August 1, 1958 (72 Stat. -486, 16 U.8.C., sec. 7184 _{cj), aathorizes the
Secretary of the Intericr to-acguire small wetland or pothole areas sultabls fox use es waterfowl
production areas: T o :

WHEREAS, the lands described below cunt_a..:ln or include small waﬁﬁnd or po.t!iole areas
suitable for use &s wrterfowl production areas: T .

HOW, THEREFORE, for and in comsideration of the sum of e:l,gthgeen hundred~= Dollsrs
($1800,00 ), the parties of the first part hereby comvey to the United States, commencing with
the mcceptance of thia indenturs by the Secretary of the Interior or his suthorized representative -’
which acceptance mist be made within =gige= mohths of the execution of this indenture by the parties
of the first part, or any subsequent date s may be mrtually. agreed upon during:the bterm of this -
opticn, an easement or right of use for the maintenance of the land described below as a waterfowl
production area in perpetuity, including the right of access therete by autherized representatives
of the Unlted States: North Dakotea

“ '

. section 9, NEk,N%8%L,
gection 10, 84V,

e

.‘.’;ubjact, howevér_, to all axiating righta-of-\‘my for highwsys, roads, railroads, pipelines,
canals, laterals, electrical transmission lines, telegraph and télephone lines, and all out- -
standing minsral rights. - . :

The partles of the first part, for themselves and for their heirs, successors and assigos,
covenant and agreé that they will cooperate in the maintenance of the afoTesaid lands as & waterfowl
production area by not dralning or permitting the dreining, through the transfer of appurtenant
water rights or otherwise, of any -surfece water including lekes, ponds, marshes, sloughs, sweles,
gwamps, -or potholes, now existing or reoccurring dus to natural causes on the above—described tract,
by ditching 6r =ny other means; by pot f£illing in with earth or any other materizl or leveling, any
part or portion of the sbove-described tract on which surface water or mersh vegetation ls now
existing or heréafter reévccurs die vo natural .causes; and by not burning any aresas covered wlth
marsh vegstation. It 1s understood and agreed that this indenture imposes no other obligations or
restrictions upon the parties of the first part and that nelther they nor their successors, assigas,
.legsees, or any other person .or party claiming under them shall in amy way be restricted from
carrying ¢n faiming practices such &s grazlng, hay cutting, plowing, working and cropplng wetlands
when the seme are dry of natural oguses, and that they may utilize all of the subject lands in the
ciustomary manner except for the draining, £illing, levelirg, and burning provisions ‘mentioned- above.

. . SPECIAL PROVISIONS

1. This indenture shall not be binding upcn the UNITED STATES OF AMERICA until accepted
on behalf of the United States by the Secretary of the Interior or nis auwthorized representative,
although this indenturs is ecknowledged by the parties of the first part 4o be presently binding
upon the parties of the First part and to remain so untll the expirstion of said period for accept—
ance, as hereinabove described, by virtue of the payment to parties of the first part, by the
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, of the sum of One Dollar, the receipt of which is hereby -expressly



he It is further mutually egreed that no Member of or Delegate to Congress, or Resident
Commissioner, shall be admitted to any share or part of this contract, or to -any benefii to arise
thereupcn. Nothing, however, herein ‘eontained shall be construed to extend to any incorporated
company, whers such contriet 1s made for the general benefit of sueh incorperatlon or- company.
. ' 5, . Payment of the consideration will be made by Distursing Officers check after accept-
ance of this indenture by the Secretary of the Intérior or his asuthorized representative, and after
the Atterney General or in eppropriate cases, the Field Solicitor of the Department of the Interior
ghell have approved -the easement interest thus vested 1n the United States.

- IN WITNESS WHEREOF the perties of the first part have hereunto set their hands and seals

this - . Znd day of - ,Apri,], Sy 19 65' ‘ ‘ I T N L LR PR
/s/Percy Horst (L.s.)
Percy Ro_:-st
/s/Rose Horst - (L.S.)
Rose Horst
(L.5.)
(r.s8.}
(L.8.)
. : (W,tpesa) . .
) : i (L.8.)
' N . ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
state__North Dskote )"
coonrr oF __Eidder )
- On‘thia. nd dey of Apti.l . s in the year 10§%5, befors me personalty

appearsd Parey Hor and - Horst .y hig wife, known to me to
be the persons esui’t?eﬁ’n and who exéeuted ?he gor%going ingtrument a.nt’i acknowledged to me that
they (hjede executed the same-as their (hig) free act and deed, -

roe? o T

/s/Rermeth A, Ystegnnd _

P . 1 ) I |
c AP . - . » FKenneth A, Ystecund
A R o ' Notary Public _
(sgar) (AfEixed)” - o i (offtcial Title)
. My commission exp;res ’ Octob:er 10. 1969 .
. S . ACCEPTANCE S
" This indenture is mccepted on behalf of the United States this . day of

JUL -9 1865 , 19 ., under the awthority contained in section 4 of the Migratory Bird Hunting
Stemp Act, as amended, &nd pursuant to authority delegated by 210 DM 1.3, Commissioner of Fish
and Wildlife Order No. 4, and 4 &M 4.5D(1). .

THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA



